
 

 

Assistant Director, Governance and 
 

Monitoring 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Democratic Services 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Direct Line: 01484 221000 
 

Fax: 01484 221707 
 

Please ask for: Richard Dunne 
 

Email: richard.dunne@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 6 July 2016 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will meet in the Council Chamber - Town 
Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 14 July 2016. 
 

(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 10.30am to undertake Site Visits. The consideration 
of Planning Applications will commence at 1.00 pm in the Council Chamber.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live. 
 

The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Assistant Director of Legal, Governance and Monitoring 
 

Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Strategic Planning Committee members are:- 
 

 
When a Strategic Planning Committee member cannot be at the meeting another member can 
attend in their place from the list below:- 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
D Bellamy 
L Holmes 
B McGuin 
N Patrick 
K Sims

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper

Independent 
C Greaves 
T Lyons

Labour 
G Asif 
F Fadia 
E Firth 
C Scott 
S Ullah

Liberal Democrat 
R Eastwood 
J Lawson 
A Marchington 
L Wilkinson 

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Steve Hall (Chair) 
Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor Paul Kane 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
 
 
  Pages 

 
 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 

This is where Councillors who are attending as substitutes will say 
for whom they are attending. 
 
To note the appointment of Councillor S Hall as Chair of Strategic 
Planning Committee by Council at its meeting held on 29 June 2016.  

  
 

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meetings 
 

To approve the Minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 25 
May 2016 and 16 June 2016. 

  
 

 
 

1 - 12 

 

3:   Interests and Lobbying 
 

The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda about which they might have been lobbied. The Councillors 
will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda in which 
they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which would prevent them 
from participating in any discussion of the items or participating in 
any vote upon the items, or any other interests. 

  
 

 
 

13 - 14 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private. 

 
 

 



 

 

  
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 

The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people 
can attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 

  
 

 
 

 

 

6:   Site Visit - Application 2016/90647 
 

Outline application for residential development (23 dwellings) at 
former railway station and goods yard, Fold Farm, Netherton Fold, 
Netherton, Huddersfield 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site – 10.40am  
 
Contact Officer: Louise Clark, Planning Officer  

 
 
 
Wards 
Affected: Crosland Moor and Netherton 
 

 
 

 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application 2016/90973 
 

Erection of two storey school and two storey modular building and 
demolition of existing school at Mount Pleasant Junior Infant And 
Nursery School, Mount Street, Lockwood, Huddersfield 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site – 11.00am  
 
Contact Officer: Sarah Longbottom, Planning Officer  

 
 
 
Wards 
Affected: Crosland Moor and Netherton 
 

 
 

 

 



 

 

8:   Site Visit - Application 2014/91831 
 

Outline application for erection of 60 dwellings, formation of access 
public space and associated infrastructure at Cockley Hill Lane, 
Kirkheaton, Huddersfield 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site – 11.30am  
 
Contact Officer – Bill Topping, Major Developments Officer  

 
 
 
Wards 
Affected: Dalton 
 

 
 

 

 

9:   Site Visit - Application 2014/92535 
 

Outline application for erection of 48 dwellings, formation of access 
and associated infrastructure at Shop Lane, Kirkheaton, 
Huddersfield 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site – 11.40am  
 
Contact Officer: Bill Topping, Major Developments Officer 

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Dalton 
 

 
 

 

 

10:   Planning Applications 
 

The Planning Sub Committee will consider the attached schedule of 
Planning Applications. 
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must have registered no later than 5.00pm (via telephone), 
or 11.59pm (via email) on Monday 11 July 2016. To pre-register, 
please contact richard.dunne@kirklees.gov.uk or phone 01484 
221000 (extension 74995). 

  
 

 
 

15 - 100 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside   
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday 25th May 2016 
 
Present: Councillor Mohan Sokhal (Chair) 
 Councillor Donald Firth 

Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Paul Kane 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
1 Admission of the Public 

The Committee determined that the business for the meeting be considered in 
public.  
 

2 Sub-Committees and Appointment of Chair Thereof 
It was moved by Councillor Sokhal, seconded by Councillor Pattison and; 
 
RESOLVED - That the appointment of Planning Sub Committee for the Heavy 
Woollen Area and the Huddersfield Area be approved, that the Membership be as 
set out in the report at Item 18 of the Agenda of Annual Council, and that the Chairs 
be as follows:-  
 
Heavy Woollen Area – Councillor P Kane  
 
Huddersfield Area – Councillor T Lyons 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside   
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 16th June 2016 
 
Present: Councillor Mohan Sokhal (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Kane 

Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

There were no substitutions of membership. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 May 2016 be approved 
as a correct record.  
 

3 Interests and Lobbying 
Councillors Pattison and A Pinnock advised that they had been lobbied on 
Application 2015/93827. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All agenda items were considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

6 Site Visit - Application 2015/92944 
Site visit undertaken.  
 

7 Site Visit - Application 2016/91202 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

8 Planning Applications 
The Committee considered the schedule of Planning Applications. Under the 
provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee heard representations from 
members of the public in respect of the following applications;  
 
(a)  Application 2015/93827 – Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 
food retail unit (A1) with associated site works, parking, access and landscaping at 

Page 3



Strategic Planning Committee -  16 June 2016 
 

2 
 

former Kirklees College, Portland Street, Huddersfield – Chris Marsden 
(Huddersfield Civic Society), Jamie Wood, Michael Kitchen, Bill Davidson and Geoff 
Alvy (on behalf of the applicant) 
 
(b)  Application 2016/91202 – Change of use from nightclub/music venue to 
gymnasium (Class D2) – Batley Frontier, 260 Bradford Road, Batley – Joe Battye 
(applicant)  
 
Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 36(1) the Committee received a 
representation from Councillor S Hall, in his capacity as a Local Ward Member, in 
relation to Application 2015/92944 – Erection of 66 dwellings at land off White Lee 
Road, Batley.  
 
RESOLVED - That the Applications under the Planning Act included in the list 
submitted for consideration by the Committee be determined as now indicated and 
that the schedule of decisions be circulated to Members. 
 
 

Page 4



 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

16 JUNE 2016 

Page 5



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 

2 
 

2015/93827   M Sexton Wiggett Construction/Kirklees College, Lidl (UK)  
    GmbH, c/o agent - Demolition of existing buildings and  
    erection of food retail unit (A1) with associated site works,  
    parking, access and landscaping - Former Kirklees College,  
    Portland Street, Huddersfield 

   
 CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO THE 

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
 (THE SUB COMMITTEE REQUESTED (I) AN ADDITIONAL 

CONDITION TO REQUIRE THE WESTERN ELEVATION OF 
THE DEVELOPMENT TO BE NATURAL STONE AND (II) AN 
AMENDMENT TO CONDITION 17 TO STRENGTHEN THE 
SECURITY OF THE SITE) 

 
 GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING PERMISSION 

SUBJECT TO DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
TO: 

 (1) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE 
CONDITIONS WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE LISTED BELOW; 
AND 

 (2) SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO CHANGES WHICH 
MATERIALLY AFFECT THIS RECOMMENDATION, ISSUE THE 
DECISION NOTICE. 

 
 (1) The development shall be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which permission is 
granted. 

 
 (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

complete accordance with the approved plans and specifications 
except as may be required by other conditions. 

 
 (3) No development of the retail food store shall take place until 

sample facing and roofing materials have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
development shall be constructed of the approved materials. 

 
 (4) No development of the retail food store shall take place until 

details of all boundary treatments have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to the hereby 
approved development coming into operation, and shall be 
retained thereafter. 

 
 (5) No development shall take place until a comprehensive 

scheme for landscaping treatment of the site prepared in 
accordance with the Local Planning Authority’s Code of Practice 
Note 2 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Page 6



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 

3 
 

2015/93827 Cont’d  (6) Any planting, seeding or tree management works forming part 
of the landscaping scheme referred to in Condition 5shall be 
carried out during the first planting, seeding or management 
season following the commencement of development, or as 
otherwise may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and shall be maintained for a period of five years from 
the completion of planting works. All specimens which die within 
this period shall be replaced. 

 
 (7) The net sales area of the retail food store hereby permitted 

shall not   exceed 1424sqm including, for the avoidance of doubt, 
any mezzanine floor space. (The net sales area within the 
building includes all internal areas accessible to the consumer but 
excludes lobbies, restaurants/cafes, customer toilets and 
walkways behind checkouts). Within the total net sales area 
hereby permitted, no more that 25% shall be used for the sale of 
comparison goods. 

 
 (8) Where further intrusive investigation is recommended in the 

Preliminary Risk Assessment approved pursuant to condition, 
development shall not commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

 
 (9) Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II 

Intrusive Site Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 
8 development shall not commence until a Remediation Strategy 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The Remediation Strategy shall include a 
timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 

 
 (10) Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in 

accordance with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to 
condition 9. In the event that remediation is unable to proceed in 
accordance with the approved Remediation Strategy or 
contamination not previously considered [in either the Preliminary 
Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save 
for site investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local 
planning authority shall be notified in writing within 2 working 
days. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority, works shall not recommence until proposed revisions to 
the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
revised Remediation Strategy. 

 
 (11) Following completion of any measures identified in the 

approved Remediation Strategy or any approved revised 

Page 7



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 

4 
 

2015/93827 Cont’d  Remediation Strategy a Validation Report shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority, no part of the site shall be 
brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for 
the whole site have been completed in accordance with the 
approved Remediation Strategy or the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy and a Validation Report in respect of those 
remediation measures has been approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

 
 (12) Before development of the retail food store commences 

details of an acoustic barrier to the plant area as recommended 
by the Acoustic Report ref 8832/1421/01 date November 2015 by 
PDA Ltd, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The use hereby approved shall not 
commence until the construction of the acoustic barrier has been 
completed and those works shall be retained thereafter. 

 
 (13) There shall be no deliveries to or dispatches form the 

premises outside the hours of 07.00 and 00.00 Monday to Friday; 
08.00-00.00 Saturdays; and 10.00-20.00 Sundays or Bank 
Holidays. 

 
 (14) Before development of the retail food store commences a 

scheme detailing the provision and siting of low emission vehicle 
charging points within the scheme shall be submitted for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented prior to the development hereby 
approved coming into use. 

 
 (15) Surface water from vehicle parking and hardstanding areas 

shall be passed through an interceptor of adequate capacity prior 
to discharge. Roof drainage should not be passed through any 
interceptor. 

 
 (16) Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing 

foul, surface water and land drainage (including off site works, 
outfalls, balancing works, plans and longitudinal sections, 
hydraulic calculations, phasing of drainage provision, existing 
drainage to be maintained/ diverted /abandoned and percolation 
tests where appropriate) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development hereby 
approved shall not be brought into use until the agreed drainage 
scheme has been completed, and shall thereafter be retained. 

 
 (17) The development hereby permitted shall incorporate 

measures to minimise the risk of crime and meet the specific 
security needs of the development site. Details of the measures 
to be incorporated shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to development 

Page 8



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 

5 
 

2015/93827 Cont’d  commencing, shall be implemented before the development is 
first occupied and thereafter shall be retained throughout the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
 Detailed highway conditions to cover the following matters: 
 
 - The land to be vested to the Highways Authority for the 

future cycle infrastructure works; 
 - Off-site highway works to provide the site accesses with 

Portland Street, and all associated works (including land along he 
site frontage with Trinity Street and pedestrian/ cycle access off 
Castlegate) to provide cycle pedestrian routes; 

  - The internal accesses, circulation and parking layout, 
including the provision of 6 motorcycle spaces and at least 2 
electric/ hybrid vehicle charging points; 

 - The submission of a scheme to improve the 
appearance/lighting of the subway passage under Castlegate 
which forms the pedestrian link from the site to the town centre 

  
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Kane, Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (4 

Votes)  
 
 AGAINST: (No Votes) 
 
2015/92944 Jones Homes (Yorks) Ltd/M62 Develops Ltd - Erection of 66 

dwellings - Land off, White Lee Road, Batley 
 
 REFUSED  
 
 (1) THE SITE IS ALLOCATED AS URBAN GREENSPACE ON 

THE COUNCIL’S UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (UDP) 
PROPOSALS MAP. THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IS 
CONTRARY TO POLICY D3 OF THE UDP WHICH RELATES 
TO DEVLOPMENT ON SUCH SITES. THE SITE IS 
CONSIDERD TO HAVE VALUE AS OPEN SPACE AND AS 
SUCH IS NOT DEEMED SURPLUS TO REQUIREMENTS THE 
DEVELOPMENT IS THEREFORE CONTRARY TO 
PARAGRAPH 74 OF THE NATIONALPLANNING POLICY 
FRAMEWORK. THE LOSS OF THE VALUE OF THE URBAN 
GRENSPACE IS CONSIDERED TO OUTWEIGH ALL OTHER 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS, INCLUDING THE DELIVERY 
OF NEW HOUSING. 

 
 (2) THE PROPOSAL FAILS TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE PUBLIC 

OPEN SPACE WITHIN THE LAYOUT, CONTRARY TO 
POLICIES BE23 AND H18 OF THE KIRKLEES UNITARY 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN. 

Page 9



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 

6 
 

 2015/92944 Cont’d  (3) THE SITING OF PLOTS 42 AND 56 ARE UNACCEPTABLE 
BEING CONTRARY TO POLICY BE12 OF THE KIRKLEES 
UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND CONSEQUENTLY 
WOULD RESULT IN AN ADVERSE IMPACT UPON THE 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY OF OCCUPIERS OF THE 
NEIGHBOURING DWELLINGS. 

 
 (4) THE APPLICATION HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE AN 

ADEQUATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROVISION TO SERVE 
THE DEVELOPMENT. AS SUCH TO APPROVE THE 
APPLICATION WOULD BE CONTRARY TO POLICY H10 OF 
THE KIRKLEES UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 2 ‘AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING’.  

 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Kane, Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (4 

Votes)  
 
 AGAINST: (No Votes) 
  
2016/91202 Batley Variety Club Ltd - Change of Use from nightclub/music 

venue to gymnasium (Class D2) - Batley Frontier, 260, Bradford 
Road, Batley 

 
 CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING PERMISSION  
 (THE SUB COMMITTEE RESOLVED THAT AN ADDITIONAL 

CONDITION BE INCLUDED REGARDING THE REMOVAL OF 
JAPANESE KNOTWEED FROM THE SITE) 

 
 (1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun within 

three years of the date of this permission. 
 
 (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

complete accordance with the plans and specifications schedule 
listed in this decision notice, except as may be specified in the 
conditions attached to this permission, which shall in all cases 
take precedence. 

 
 (3) A scheme detailing the arrangement and specification for 

cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority within 3 months from the 
commencement of the development. The cycle parking facilities 
shall then be provided in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is first brought into use and thereafter  
retained. 

 

Page 10



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 

7 
 

2016/91202 Cont’d (4) Nothing shall be permitted to be planted or erected within a 
strip of 2.4m deep measured from the carriageway edge of 

 Bradford Road along the full frontage of the site which exceeds 
1.0m in height above the level of the adjoining highway. 

 
 (5) In the event that contamination not previously identified by 

the developer prior to the grant of this planning permission is 
encountered during the development, all works on site (save for 
site investigation works) shall cease immediately and the Local 
Planning Authority shall be notified in writing within 2 working 
days. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, works on site shall not recommence until either (a) a 
Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority or (b) the Local Planning 
Authority has confirmed in writing that remediation measures are 
not required. The Remediation Strategy shall include a timetable 
for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. Thereafter remediation of the site shall 
be carried out and completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy. Following completion of any measures 
identified in the approved Remediation Strategy a Validation 
Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning  Authority. 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, no part of the site shall be brought into use until such 
time as the whole site has been remediated in accordance with 
the approved   Remediation Strategy and a Validation Report in 
respect of those works has been approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 (6) A scheme of flood mitigation measures (incorporating a Flood 

Evacuation Plan) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority before the development is 
brought into use. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme, and thereafter retained. 

 
  A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (3 Votes)  
 
 AGAINST: Councillors Kane (1 Vote) 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 A
N

D
 L

O
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 in

te
re

st
 re

qu
ire

 y
ou

 to
 

w
ith

dr
aw

 fr
om

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

w
hi

le
 th

e 
ite

m
 in

 w
hi

ch
 

yo
u 

ha
ve

 a
n 

in
te

re
st

 is
 u

nd
er

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r i

nt
er

es
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

LO
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

D
at

e 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n/
Pa

ge
 

N
o.

 
Lo

bb
ie

d 
B

y 
(N

am
e 

of
 

pe
rs

on
) 

A
pp

lic
an

t 
O

bj
ec

to
r 

Su
pp

or
te

r 
A

ct
io

n 
ta

ke
n 

/ 
A

dv
ic

e 
gi

ve
n 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
Si

gn
ed

: 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
 

D
at

ed
: 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

.. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

 D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

 If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
. 

 An
y 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t, 

of
fic

e,
 tr

ad
e,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n 

or
 v

oc
at

io
n 

ca
rri

ed
 o

n 
fo

r p
ro

fit
 o

r g
ai

n,
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, u
nd

er
ta

ke
s.

 
 An

y 
pa

ym
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
. 

 An
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
- 

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
 

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
 

An
y 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t i
n 

la
nd

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

av
e 

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 is

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.

 

An
y 

lic
en

ce
 (a

lo
ne

 o
r j

oi
nt

ly
 w

ith
 o

th
er

s)
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
ol

ds
 to

 o
cc

up
y 

la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 

au
th

or
ity

 fo
r a

 m
on

th
 o

r l
on

ge
r. 

 An
y 

te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 An

y 
be

ne
fic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
(a

) t
ha

t b
od

y 
(to

 y
ou

r k
no

w
le

dg
e)

 h
as

 a
 p

la
ce

 o
f b

us
in

es
s 

or
 la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 

(b
) e

ith
er

 - 
th

e 
to

ta
l n

om
in

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f t

he
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 e
xc

ee
ds

 £
25

,0
00

 o
r o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t  
bo

dy
; o

r 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
. 

 

Lo
bb

yi
ng

 
 If 

yo
u 

ar
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

ed
 b

y 
an

y 
M

em
be

r o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f a

n 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

ag
en

da
 y

ou
 m

us
t d

ec
la

re
d 

th
at

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
be

en
 lo

bb
ie

d.
 A

 
de

cl
ar

at
io

n 
of

 lo
bb

yi
ng

 d
oe

s 
no

t a
ffe

ct
 y

ou
r a

bi
lit

y 
to

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
e 

in
 th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

or
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

Page 14



 
 
 

1

 
  KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

 
  PLANNING SERVICE 

 
  LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DECIDED BY 

 
  STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 

  14-Jul-2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985   
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 

  There is a file for each planning application containing                             
application forms, plans and background papers.  

 
  Simon Taylor - 01484 221000 

 
 
 
 
  

NOTE:  For clarification the page numbering referred to 
shall be those set out in the contents page 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 

2

Page 16



 
 
 

3

In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this 
Agenda the following information applies; 
 

PLANNING POLICY 
 

The statutory development plan comprises: 
 

The Unitary Development Plan (UDP).  These reports will refer only to those 
polices of the UDP ‘saved’ under the direction of the Secretary of State 
beyond September 2007. 
 

The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of 
planning applications for the development or use of land unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 

The Local Plan will provide the evidence base for all new and retained 
allocations including POL. The Local Plan process will assess whether sites 
should be allocated for development or protected from development including 
whether there are exceptional circumstances to return POL sites back to 
Green Belt. The Local Plan process is underway and the public consultation 
on the draft local plan took place between 9th November 2015 and  
1st February 2016. 
 

Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework explains how weight may 
be given to policies in emerging plans. At this point in time, the draft local plan 
policies and proposals are not considered to be at a sufficiently advanced 
stage to carry weight in decision making for individual planning applications. 
The Local Planning Authority must therefore rely on existing policies (saved) 
in the UDP, national planning policy and guidance. 
 

National Policy/Guidelines 
 

National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy 
Statements, primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
published 27th March 2012, the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) 
launched 6th March 2014 together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and 
associated technical guidance. 
 

The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets 
out how people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be 
involved in the development management process relating to planning 
applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and 
neighbour letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development 
Management Charter and in full accordance with the requirements of 
regulation, statute and national guidance. 

Page 17



 
 
 

4

EQUALITY ISSUES 
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have 
due regard to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing 
equality of opportunity and fostering good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and people who do not share that 
characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

• age; 
 

• disability; 
 

• gender reassignment; 
 

• pregnancy and maternity; 
 

• religion or belief; 
 

• sex; 
 

• sexual orientation. 
 

 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:- 
 

• Article 8 – Right to respect for private and family life. 
 

• Article 1 of the First Protocol – Right to peaceful enjoyment of property 
and possessions. 
 

The Council considers that the recommendations witihn the reports are in 
accordance with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the 
rights and freedoms of others and in the public interest. 
 
 

Page 18



 
 
 

5

PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 203 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires 
that Local Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of planning condition 
or obligations, 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 stipulates that planning 
obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990) should only by sought where they meet all of the 
following tests. 
 

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

• directly related to the development; and 
 

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework and further guidance in the PPGS 
launched on 6th March 2014 require that planning conditions should only be 
imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these are in summary: 
 
1. necessary; 
 
2. relevant to planning and; 
 
3. to the development to be permitted; 
 
4. enforceable; 
 
5. precise and; 
 
6.  reasonable in all other respects. 
 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before 
the Planning sub-committee have been made in accordance with the 
above requirements. 

Page 19



 
 
 

6

Page 20



 
 
 

7

Contents 
 
Application No: 2016/90647 ............................................................................. 9 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for residential development (23 dwellings) 

Location: former railway station and goods yard, Fold Farm, Netherton Fold, 
Netherton, Huddersfield, HD4 7HB 

Ward: Crosland Moor and Netherton Ward 

Applicant: Scott Waters, Alcuin Homes (Yorkshire) Limited 

Agent: Andrew Coldwell, Heppenstall Architects 

Target Date: 26-May-2016 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2016/90973 ........................................................................... 32 
Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Erection of two storey school and two storey modular building 
and demolition of existing school 
Location: Mount Pleasant Junior Infant And Nursery School, Mount Street, 
Lockwood, Huddersfield, HD1 3QP 

Ward: Crosland Moor and Netherton Ward 

Applicant: C Blanshard, Kier Construction 

Agent: Matthew Bradshaw 

Target Date: 22-Jul-2016 

Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2014/91831 ........................................................................... 47 
Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 60 dwellings, formation of 
access public space and associated infrastructure 

Location: Cockley Hill Lane, Kirkheaton, Huddersfield, HD5 0HH 

Ward: Dalton Ward 

Applicant: P Cryan, Hartley Quality Homes 

Agent: Laura Mepham, John R Paley Associates 

Target Date: 15-Sep-2014 

Recommendation: ASD-CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO 
THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2014/92535 ........................................................................... 66 
Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 48 dwellings, formation of 
access and associated infrastructure 

Location: Shop Lane, Kirkheaton, Huddersfield, HD5 0DB 

Ward: Dalton Ward 

Applicant: Paul Cryan, Hartley Property Trust Ltd 

Agent: Laura Mepham, John R Paley Associates 

Target Date: 26-Nov-2014 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Page 21



 
 
 

8

 

Page 22



 
 
 

9

Application No: 2016/90647 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for residential development (23 dwellings) 

Location: former railway station and goods yard, Fold Farm, Netherton 
Fold, Netherton, Huddersfield, HD4 7HB 

 
Grid Ref: 412263.0 412862.0  

Ward: Crosland Moor and Netherton Ward 

Applicant: Scott Waters, Alcuin Homes (Yorkshire) Limited 

Agent: Andrew Coldwell, Heppenstall Architects 

Target Date: 26-May-2016 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

Ch u rc h

Dis
m

an
tle

d 
Rai

lw
ay

Cottage Homes

1 8 4 .4 m

4

6

B 6
10

8

8

6a

10

7

9

10a

1 9 5 .7 m

1 8 1 .4 m

3

10

1 9 8 .1 m

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only

Page 23



 
 
 

10

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 
 
Application Details 
Type of Development Outline for Residential Development 
Scale of Development 23 Units   

No. Jobs Created or Retained N/a  
Policy  
UDP allocation Green Belt  
Independent Viability Required No  
Representation/Consultation  
Individual Support (No.) 0  

Individual Objection (No.) 23  
Petition No  
Ward Member Interest Yes   
Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

Drainage  

Contributions  

• Affordable Housing Yes  By condition 

• Education Not required  

• Public Open Space £37,950  By S106 obligation 

• Dedication of land as 
pedestrian/ cycleway 

Yes By S106 obligation 

• Financial contribution 
towards cost of 
implementing pedestrian/ 
cycleway 

£58,000 By S106 obligation 

• Resident Metro Cards Nil  

Other Issues  
Any Council Interest No  
Planning Pre-Application 
Advice 

No  

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

No  

Comment on Application The development proposed is considered to 
be inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt. The resultant harm will be no 
greater than that which already exists. 
The applicant puts forward a case for very 
special circumstances based upon the 
opportunity to secure land for and a financial 
contribution towards the implementation of a 
significant section of cycleway that forms 
part of the Meltham Greenway. Realising a 
section of cycleway that is part of a strategic 
route linking Meltham with Netherton is 
considered to outweigh any resultant harm. 

 

Page 24



 
 
 

11

RECOMMENDATION:    
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISISON SUBJECT TO 
DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 
 

i. RESOLVE THE OUTSTANDING DRAINAGE ISSUES  
ii. REFERAL OF THE APPLICATION TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE TOWN & COUNTRY PLANNING 
CONSULTATIONS DIRECTION 2009. SHOULD THE SECRETARY 
OF STATE NOT WISH TO INTERVENE THEN: 

iii. ENTER INTO A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE THE 
DEDICATION OF LAND AND A CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS 
PROVISION OF AN EXTENSION TO THE MELTHAM GREENWAY 

iv. IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, 
WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE SET OUT BELOW, AND 

v. PROVIDED THAT THERE ARE NO NEW MATERIAL CHANGES, 
ISSUE THE DECISION. 

 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought forward to Strategic Committee for determination in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation as it represents a 
departure from the Council’s Unitary Development Plan Proposals Map.  
 
3. SITE DESCRIPTION / PROPOSAL 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site comprises an area of approximately 1.5 hectares, located 
off Netherton Fold and Station Road, approximately 0.1 mile to the south of 
the local centre of Netherton. The site comprises of the former Fold Farm in 
the north-eastern corner, with the land to the south comprising a former 
railway station and goods yard. The station platform, sidings, hardstanding 
and crane bases remain together with an engineered tunnel, the entrance to 
which has been sealed off.  
 
Within the site are two plateau areas connected by a cobbled / metalled 
roadway off Station Road. The upper plateau, adjacent to Netherton Fold 
comprises of a stone barn which directly abuts the boundary with Netherton 
Fold and a mix of now dilapidated buildings constructed with a mix of 
materials (breeze block, sheet cladding, stone and timber). On the lower 
plateau are three connected buildings clad in sheet steel, used for the 
accommodation of cattle, feed storage and implements. At the time of the site 
visits cattle were present in the buildings.   
 
The site is bounded by extensive woodland to the north and mature trees to 
the west and south.  
 
To the north, the site is bounded by the former railway line that formed a 
branch line from Huddersfield to Meltham. 

Page 25



 
 
 

12

 
The site is wholly within the Green Belt and adjoins the Netherton (Corn Bank) 
Conservation Area. 
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks permission for demolition of existing buildings and 
outline planning permission for residential development of 23 units with 
access and layout to be considered. All other matters (scale, appearance and 
landscaping) are reserved for subsequent consideration. 
 
The development would be accessed off Station Road; the access that was 
originally constructed for Netherton Station goods yard and coal yard. The 
existing cobbled vehicular access off Station Road would be utilised, with 
improvements proposed. 
 
The layout proposed is for the erection of three apartment blocks on the upper 
plateau; to accommodate a mix of 12no one and two bedroom apartments. 
Block A1-A4 would front onto Station Road with blocks A5-A8 and A9-1A2 
fronting onto Netherton Fold.  An area of off-street parking with 19 spaces is 
proposed to serve the proposed apartments. Directly opposite this parking 
area to the north is a block of 6 spaces proposed for existing residents who 
currently park off Station Road.  
 
On the lower plateau it is proposed to construct 11 large detached dwellings 
with integral garages and private amenity spaces.   
 
The proposal facilitates the future extension of the Meltham Greenway. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
94/90411 – Agricultural Notification for erection of extension to cattle housing / 
storage building – Withdrawn 
 
2005/92997 – Change of use of existing barn to form 1 dwelling – Withdrawn 
 
2005/93955 – Change of use of existing barn to form 1 no dwelling – 
Conditional Full Permission  
 
2009/90182 – Conversion and extension of existing farm building to form 6 
residential dwellings - Withdrawn 
 
2009/93172 – Conversion and Extension to farm buildings to form 5 dwellings 
(part within a Conservation Area) – Sectional 106 Full Permission  
 
Policy 
 
The site is located within the Green Belt on the Unitary Development Plan 
Proposals Map 
 

Page 26



 
 
 

13

Kirklees Unitary Development Plan: 
 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE12 – Space about buildings 
BE23 – Crime prevention 
T10 – Highway Safety 
H10 – Affordable housing 
H12 – Arrangements for securing affordable housing 
H18 – Provision of public open space 
T18 – Strategic Routes for Pedestrians and cyclists  
R13 – Potential for new links in the public right of way network 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
 
Part 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Part 7 –Requiring Good Design  
Part 9 – Protecting Green Belt Land  
Part 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
Part 11 – Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment  
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
The following is a brief summary of Consultee advice (more details are 
contained in the assessment section of the report, where appropriate): 
 
K.C Highway Services – No objections  
 
KC Trees – No objections   
 
KC Conservation and Design – No objections  
 
K.C Environmental Services – No objections subject to conditions in respect 
of contaminated land  
 
KC Ecologist – No response   
 
KC Flood Management & Drainage – Object to the proposal until further 
details are submitted to demonstrate that the site can be developed with a 
viable drainage solution and without increasing the risk of flooding to both the 
proposed development and the surrounding area. 
 
The Environment Agency – No objections  
 
Yorkshire Water – No objections  
 
KC Housing – An affordable housing contribution is required  
 
KC Landscape – No objections  subject to securing a commuted sum to 
improve existing open space off site  

Page 27



 
 
 

14

 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
As a result of the application publicity a total of 27 representations have been 
received (18 objections, 1 in support and 8 that offer comments for 
consideration). 
 
Comments in Support  

• Development could enhance the appearance of an unattractive part of 
the village 

• There would be benefits from the provision of additional housing. 

• Support the possibility of the Meltham Greenway being extended. 

• Commend the use of a brown field site. The current site is dilapidated 
and will benefit from having well-built housing providing the buildings 
are in-keeping with neighbouring properties. 

• Support the redevelopment of this brown-field site, converting it from 
industrial railway yard to housing 

• The proposal to extend the Meltham Greenway would be a great 
benefit to all. This should be a key condition of the new development.  

 
Friends of Meltham Greenway 

• The layout shows the proposed greenway extension on what is now 
the Mate brothers land from Healey House to Netherton tunnel and 
Netherton village.  

• Pleased to see an additional pavement alongside Station Road. 

• We assume that the area around Netherton Tunnel will be suitably 
cleared and the basic route to the tunnel itself put in place. From our 
observation on the site visit this area needs some attention. 

• The land owned by the Mates Brothers ends at the overbridge as 
shown on the South West End Plan.  Kirklees Council own the land 
from the overbridge to Crosland Factory Lane.  When this development 
proceeds we will need to coordinate the activity of the developer with 
that of Kirklees Council so that a through route to Crosland Factory 
Lane is possible. However, at this stage, termination will need to be to 
the road itself through the existing gate for it may be some time before 
the route across Crosland Factory Lane on an overbridge is achieved. 

 
The planning concerns raised are précised below: 
 
Highway Safety  

• Concern about the volume and speed of traffic using Lea Lane/ 
Netherton Fold as a ‘cut through’ from Honley to Netherton. Residents 
have campaigned for 10 years for traffic measures, with the only 
measure introduced being a ‘slow down’ sign on the bend at No’s 37-
63 Lea Lane, often obscured by tree growth. Kirklees council have 
stated that until fatalities occur, they could not provide traffic 
management, e.g. speed bumps or a 20mph zone.  

• Daily altercations between drivers occur when people refuse to back up 
or cannot due to drivers behind them. Traffic inevitably backs up on 

Page 28



 
 
 

15

both sides. Reported ‘repeat offenders’ who use route daily and sound 
horns to avoid slowing down. Solutions could be 20mph, speed bumps, 
signage Suggest the Council and Police monitor traffic over the week 
and weekend.   

• Concern about families with children of school / college age who walk. 
Narrow pavements and speeding motorists make children vulnerable. 
Walkers accessing the famous ‘walkers points’ – with access to ‘Devil’s 
Rock’. The walkers route publicised by the Council is precarious. 
Suggest traffic slowing measures, widening the road between 39 Lea 
Lane and Netherton Fold, or erecting barriers to protect pedestrians 
from speeding traffic from Rose Cottage to Netherton Fold.  

• Suitable signage is required for parking for existing residents. 

• The Junction of Netheron Fold/ Moor Lane / Meltham Road is difficult 
during weekdays. With two schools, a doctors and local businesses the 
hours of 8:30-9:15 and 2.50 to 3.40 are treacherous. Suggest box 
junction at junction of Netherton Fold. Traffic Management study 
should be done.  

• Expected number of trips in the TA is underestimated. Trips will be 
generated by commuters, the school run, shopping and social trips. 
Some dwellings will have more than one car, and one person going to 
work, school or college. Netherton Fold will not be able to cope with 
increase in traffic. Provision of six spaces off Station Road for residents 
of Netherton Fold, will not reduce parking on Netherton Fold. No one 
will park in the six places unless every space on Netherton Fold has 
been filled. The pavements are partial, narrow and inadequate for 
pedestrians. 

• Careful consideration given to impact of additional traffic. Needs to be 
sufficient room for vehicles to be accommodated. Access via Netherton 
Fold is narrow with parked cars causing congestion.  

• Netherton Fold is narrow for a development of this size, should be 
double yellow lines on both sides to enable safe access. residents park 
on the road and pavements making it dangerous for pedestrians. An 
additional 23 units will make the road dangerous. Require humps and 
20 mph speed limit enforced. 

• Netherton Fold is narrow, cars park on the pavement and access is 
limited. traffic would make the situation worse. pavements are blocked 
for pedestrian use and an increase would make it difficult for access for 
emergency services.  

• The Transport Statement author does not have local knowledge., the 
road is used as a rat run from Honley to Huddersfield. There are 49 
parking spaces and more vehicles will park on the roads of the 
development. Concern about the number of trips which would be 
generated.  

• Netherton Fold is narrow with parked cars. Cars travel fast especially in 
rush hour. Accidents and near misses where road turns into Lea lane. 
Concern about safety of children. Cars and vans mount the curb due to 
the road being narrow and unsafe speed limits. Residents have to park 
at the side of the road. Hair dressers at top of Netherton Fold attract 

Page 29



 
 
 

16

more parked cars plus drivers turning around in the farm drive or Corn 
bank when leaving shops.  23 dwellings is too many. 

• Lea Lane/ Netherton Fold is a narrow single track road, drivers speed 
around blind corners. Need traffic management, for example a 20mph 
zone or speed humps.  

• Concern about increase in traffic. Pedestrians are often forced to step 
onto the road because of lack of pavements and parked cars. Busy link 
to Honley with cars and commercial vehicles.  Plus farm vehicles 
turning up Corn Bank to fields  

• Netherton Fold to Moor Lane is narrow with residents parking. Difficult 
for lorries and large vehicles to pass. Residents will chose to park near 
to their house, not in the parking area.  

• Netherton Fold is congested with cars parked and people using 
hairdressers. The farm entrance is full of cars so none of those that 
park on Netherton Fold can move there. 

• Concern about increasing volume of traffic in Lea Lane/Netherton Fold 
during morning and evening periods. Possible 40-60 additional 
vehicles. Houses abut the roadway, and families of Lea Lane/ Corn 
Bank and Netherton Fold, walk children to schools. The entrance from 
Netherton Fold is tight, narrow and has limited visibility. With no 
provision for regulating traffic, there are likely to be vehicle accidents or 
accidents with pedestrians.  

• Without traffic calming measures, Netherton Fold/Lea Lane will be a 
dangerous 'rat run' between Honley and Huddersfield/M62. Building 
and plant will overload the road. Average of 1.5-2 cars per household, 
together with visitors likely to park on Netherton Fold/Lea Lane, the 
resulting congestion will make residential access/safe passage along 
this route difficult. Emergency vehicles, tractors and large commercial 
vehicles struggle, whilst regular sized vehicles speed through. Suggest 
a traffic calming plan comprising: double yellow lines along the full 
length of Netherton Fold/Lea Lane, speed bumps, 20 MPH speed limit.  

• Netherton Fold takes traffic from Corn Bank and Lea Lane which 
funnels into the narrow lane allowing only single line traffic to Moor 
Lane. Traffic is hampered by residents' parking. The three roads exit 
into Moor Lane carrying the majority of Netherton's traffic, takes 
additional traffic from Netherton Fold and New Street opposite. At Moor 
Lane's junction with Meltham Road vehicles have to wait, reliant on 
goodwill of drivers on Meltham Road allowing them in. junction is 
virtually a crossroad with Chapel Road on the other side. Meltham 
Road has a heavy traffic load, including lorries and buses. Need to 
resolve traffic problems at junction of Moor Lane and Chapel Road 
onto the Meltham Road, could be traffic lights, Chapel Road becomes 
one way allowing traffic to enter from Meltham Road and exit at Henry 
Frederick Avenue. A definitive plan should be agreed prior to 
commencement of site work.   

• Concern about congestion and disruption to Corn Bank, Lea Lane and 
Moor Lane areas at peak times. Residents and local businesses will be 
impacted.  

Page 30



 
 
 

17

• Concern about increased volumes of traffic on narrow poorly 
maintained roads, speed of traffic and lack of traffic management. 

• The roads are narrow and pavements not existing in some places. 
Pedestrians have been knocked down in the entrance of the farm 
building. Average of 46 new cars, delivery wagons and utilises  

 
Drainage   

• The area of soakaway will be reduced with impermeable road surfaces 
or pavements on Station Road, on the widened footway, on the new 
parking areas, and on driveways and hard standing. The footprint of 
the 23 dwellings is less than that of the existing farm building, the total 
amount of impervious surface will be increased, and the area of 
soakaway decreased. More water will drain into the fields below the 
development and into Hall Dyke, the beck in the bottom of the valley. 
The fields are already very wet. Hall Dyke was very high in the winter 
of 2015/16. Flooding will increase. 

 
Residential Amenity Issues  

• Concerned the new houses will have windows that face directly into 
bedrooms of neighbouring properties who only have windows at the 
front.  
 

Heritage  

• This development is in a conservation area and is unsuitable for its 
surroundings. 

• Materials must blend into the site and area; stone built houses with 
stone built walls. 

• This is a conservation area and should not be changed or built upon. 
The plans are vague and I cannot see where the additional roads are 
being built.  

• Listed buildings within the Our house is a grade 2 listed building.  

• Concern about the standard of construction in keeping with nearby 
properties inclusive of a nearby Grade 2 Listed Mill and the standard 
of the access point. 

• Apartment blocks are not in keeping in the conservation area. 
 
Other  

• Concern about encroachment onto green-field land and a potential for 
applications on adjacent greenfield land. A development is under 
construction at the Pink Link site at Factory Lane. Concern about infill 
development between the developments. 

• Development is too large, numbers needs to be substantially reduced. 

• The development should contain itself to brownfield land or the area 
between Netherton and Magdale would start to merge. Green Belt 
needs to be preserved to prevent urban sprawl. 

• The condition of some of the farm buildings is not a reason for 
developing a housing estate. This part of the village is mainly 
agricultural and proposal increases urbanisation of the area. 

• Query if affordable homes are proposed. 

Page 31



 
 
 

18

• The Greenway should be discussed under a separate planning 
application.  

• Oppose destruction of habitat – the route of the Greenway is an 
established wildlife habitat 

• Concern if local residents would be informed about plans changing. 

• Concern this is an overdevelopment of a site with previous permission 
for 5 units.  

• Concern about shared ownership, rental interest and antisocial 
behaviour.   

• Schools are oversubscribed and local services are stretched. 

• Concern the proposal has not been adequately advertised. 

• Having a cycle and walkway will destroy habitat. There are ample 
walks and paths and the valley would not benefit from expansion. 

• Risk to local homeowners due to contaminants on the site. 

• Risk to trees being felled and/or damaged during construction. 

• Concern about light pollution. 

• Loss of view for Corn Bank residents 

• New homes within the area haven’t sold. It would be great for an 
affordable housing scheme. 

• Concern the proposed car park would be used by dog walkers. Access 
would have to be widened at the top of the entrance and cobbled roads 
to blend in with farm buildings and cope with 80 cars.  

• Traffic congestion will depreciate the value of existing properties 

• The valley has more than enough new development.  
 

Councillor Erin Hill – Forwarded comments from a local resident which have 
been précised above.  
 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of development: 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration indicate 
otherwise. The development plan is made up of the proposals maps and 
saved policies within the UDP. The policies set out earlier in the report are 
relevant to the determination of the application. An assessment of other 
‘material considerations’ and their consequences is also required in order to 
weigh any social, environmental, resource or economic considerations 
resulting from the development.  
 
The application site is located in Green Belt where in accordance with 
paragraph 87 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
inappropriate development is by definition harmful and should not be 
approved except in very special circumstances. Paragraph 88 of the NPPF 
states that when considering any planning application, local planning 
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 

Page 32



 
 
 

19

Green Belt. Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm 
to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations. Paragraph 89 stipulates a local 
planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in Green Belt, with exceptions to this including limited infilling or 
the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding 
temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing 
development. 
 
Status of the land: 
 
The red line boundary includes the former Fold Farm in the north-eastern 
corner of the site, with the land to the south comprising a former railway 
station and goods yard with associated railway infrastructure. Part of this 
brownfield site has subsequently been used for agricultural purposes and 
there is a large agricultural building sited centrally within the site. The part of 
the site which comprises the previous station, goods yard and its associated 
curtilage can be considered to be previously developed (brownfield) land 
when assessed against the definition in Annex 2 of the NPPF. The areas of 
the site that have subsequently been used for agricultural purposes however, 
are excluded from the definition of previously developed land.  
 
Establishing the harm to the Green Belt: 
 
The NPPF advises that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to 
the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. Local Planning Authorities should ensure that substantial 
weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. Very special circumstances will 
not exist unless the potential harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. 
 
The construction of new buildings within the Green Belt is inappropriate. The 
NPPF sets out exceptions to this general principle, including the partial or 
complete redevelopment of previously developed sites, whether redundant or 
in continuing use, which would not have a greater impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it. 
 
In respect of that part of the site that is previously developed and hasn’t 
subsequently been used for agriculture, the consideration is whether the 
redevelopment proposed would have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it than the existing 
development. 
 
The potential harm to the Green Belt arises from the impact of development 
upon the purposes of including land within the Green Belt and the impact on 
openness. 
 

Page 33



 
 
 

20

The purposes of including land within the Green Belt: 
 
Paragraph 79 of the NPPF stipulates that the fundamental aim of Green Belt 
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 
essential characteristics of Green Belts being their openness and 
permanence.  
 
Paragraph 80 sets out the five purposes of Green Belt: 
 

- To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas 
- To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another 
- To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment 
- To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
- To assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict 

and other urban land 
 
The main purpose of the Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl. The 
containment of the residential development within a development footprint 
defined by the engineered railway envelope and by existing tree belts ensures 
that the development would not constitute urban sprawl. 
 
The proposed development similarly does not have any adverse impact on 
the remaining four purposes or functions of the Green Belt in this area. There 
is no incremental development beyond that existing which would lead to the 
merging of towns or smaller settlements. The countryside is safeguarded from 
encroachment as the development does not go beyond the existing built 
envelope into open fields or woodland, indeed the development would make a 
positive contribution by recycling derelict land. 
 
The impact on Openness: 
 
The existing development associated with the former use as a railway station 
and goods yard (i.e. the platforms, siding, hardstanding, crane bases and 
associated access) do already have an impact upon the openness of the 
Green Belt. However it would be difficult to argue that redevelopment of these 
parts of the site for housing would have no greater impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt and therefore the paragraph 89 test of the NPPF is not 
satisfied. 
 
However, taking the site as a whole, including the buildings that are or have 
last been used for agriculture, the existing impact upon the openness of the 
Green Belt is considered to be much more significant. The site sits within the 
valley of Hall Dyke and Mag Brook and there are open views down the valley 
towards Meltham particularly when viewed from Netherton Fold. The existing 
buildings are of a scale and mass that is visually prominent within the 
landscape, they have a footprint of 3438 sq.m with a volume of 14082 cu.m 
and they are considered to impact adversely upon the openness of the Green 
Belt. 
 

Page 34



 
 
 

21

It is against this context that any harm to the openness of the Green Belt 
arising as a result of the development proposed and the case for very special 
circumstances will need to be considered. 
 
Although it is noted that several of the existing building are in agricultural use 
which is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt and therefore 
cannot be counted against the requirement of Paragraph 89 of the NPPF the 
development proposed would result in a 40% reduction in footprint and a 12% 
reduction in volume from that which already exists. It would also remove the 
existing grouping of large, unsightly buildings and structures. 
 
The development proposed would be contained within the envelope of the 
former station and goods yard and whilst appearing more linear in form, it 
would have less impact in terms of mass and scale. 
 
It is considered that whilst the development proposed will inevitably have an 
impact upon the openness of the Green Belt, that impact will be at least no 
greater than that which exists from existing development as a whole. 
 
Very Special Circumstances: 
 
The very special circumstances presented by the applicant primarily relate to 
the opportunity to secure the dedication of land for and a financial contribution 
towards the implementation of a significant section of cycleway that forms part 
of the Meltham Greenway.  
 
The route of the Meltham Greenway (pedestrian and cycle route) is to follow 
the disused Meltham branch railway line between Meltham and Lockwood. 
Whilst the adjacent disused rail corridor is not protected in the UDP, it is a 
Council aspiration to develop the line as a greenway. The Meltham Greenway 
route has been developed from Meltham town centre to Huddersfield Road at 
Meltham Mills and the aspiration is to develop the next section through to 
Netherton tunnel and Netherton villlage.  
 
Policy T18 of the UDP refers to the Councils intention to provide a number of 
strategic cycle and pedestrians routes, either by the upgrading existing routes 
or by creating new rights of way. Policy R13 refers to the potential for new 
links in the public right of way network with opportunities for increased 
enjoyment of the countryside.  
 
Substantial weight should therefore be given to realising a section of cycleway 
that is part of a strategic route linking Meltham with Netherton, with the wider 
benefits this delivers in terms of sustainability, accessibility, opportunities for 
recreation and access to open countryside. 
 
The dedication of land required within the applicants ownership and a 
financial contribution towards implementation of the works can be secured 
through a S106 obligation, heads of terms to deliver this have been submitted 
with the application.  
 

Page 35



 
 
 

22

The applicant is agreeable to transfer the land or to make it available with 
rights of access for the upgrade and extension of the Meltham Greenway prior 
to occupation of 50% of the dwellings, together with a financial contribution. 
 
The Public Rights of Way section supports the provision of a greenway 
connectivity for multi-use. They sought clarification as to whether the indicated 
route was a usable physical route, as it appeared to terminate without 
connecting with the highway network. The extent of secured greenway should 
be maximised by securing land in the applicant’s ownership but which is 
outside of the red line boundary. In addition Public footpath 227 would benefit 
from improvement works for use of proposed and existing residents.  
 
Access Considerations  
 
Policy T10 of the UDP sets out the matters against which new development 
will be assessed in terms of highway safety.  The proposal seeks approval for 
details of access and layout. 
 
The site is a former railway station and goods yard with an existing access 
(Station Road) directly onto Netherton Fold, access into the site is currently 
unadopted.  Netherton Fold has a connection to the north of the site onto 
Moor Lane via a standard priority junction. The have been 3 reported injury 
accidents at this junction in the last 16 years which indicates that the junction 
is performing within design parameters and has no underlying road safety 
issues. To the south Netherton Fold becomes Lea Lane which eventually 
connects to Honley.  Both routes are narrow in character with an average 
carriageway width of around 5 metres with on street parking in clusters along 
Netherton Fold. 
 
This application is supported by a Transport Statement (TS) prepared by Met 
Engineers on which the majority of highway comments will be made. In terms 
of traffic generation, the site has an existing use which has the potential to 
generate vehicles movements onto the highway network and in particular its 
use as a goods yard which could generate high number of heavy goods 
vehicle movements.  Therefore the impact of this proposed development on 
the highway network must be weighed against any vehicle movements that 
would occur over and above what the current site could generate. 
 
The TS indicated that the 23 dwelling development would generate 16 vehicle 
trips in the morning peak and 17 trips in the evening peak.  Although this is 
slightly below the 18 trips in each period Highways would estimate the amount 
of traffic generated equates to an additional vehicle movement every 3 
minutes in the peak periods. This amount is negligible and the traffic 
generated would not be discernible from the daily fluctuation in traffic flow on 
the highway network. 
 
In consideration of any road safety impact the additional traffic generated by 
the development may have on the highways network.  Colleagues in the 
Councils Road Safety Team have assessed any impact this may have and 
they have not raised any objection to the application.  The accident record on 

Page 36



 
 
 

23

the junction of Netherton Lane and Moor Lane is low as is the accident record 
for the Netherton Lane/Lea Lane route. 
 
In terms of location the site is in close proximity to Netherton and its local 
services and has good access to public transport.  There are good footpath 
connections into the site which also borders the Meltham Greenway which 
has the potential to be extended through the development site into Netherton 
centre and should be delivered as part of the development proposals. 
 
The development proposals include the adoption of the access road which 
includes junction realignment for Station Road and Netherton Lane.  The 
junction currently is a wide sett paved arrangement with no standard footways 
etc. Resident parking takes place in this location so some of this may be lost, 
however alternative resident parking provision via a car park off the access 
road as part the development proposals.  The new access road will become 
more “centralised” within the junction arrangement which improves visibility 
onto Netherton Fold. 
 
At its southern end the access road has a turning head and from the layout it 
would appear that it can accommodate the turning requirements of both 
service and emergency access vehicles.  The access road also appears to 
support a Manual for Streets layout which is a preference of this Council. 
 
Parking provision for the development appears to be within Council standards 
in terms of layout and provision. 
 
In conclusion the development would have no detrimental impact on the safe 
operation of the highways network, the access as proposed can 
accommodate the number of dwellings proposed and its layout is acceptable 
in terms of servicing. Therefore the Highways Development Management 
Team can see no sustainable highways reason to object to the application 
subject to the inclusion of a number of conditions. These include vehicle 
parking areas being appropriately surfaced and drained, details of the internal 
adoptable estate road, details of the junction and works at the junction of 
Station Road and Netherton and a scheme detailing measures to prevent mud 
and debris being deposited on the road. The provision of resident metro cards 
is also recommended.  
 
Layout Considerations  
 
Density of Development / Design: 
 
The density of development would not be out of keeping with the wider village 
of Netherton. There is a mix of dwelling types and densities within the village 
and on balance it is considered the proposed density of development would 
be acceptable. 
 
The site abuts the boundary of the Netherton (Corn Bank) Conservation Area. 
KC Conservation and Design note that the layout responds to the topography 
of the site and offers opportunities for well-designed dwellings. The 

Page 37



 
 
 

24

apartments onto Netherton Fold offer a sense of enclosure that is typical of 
the area. Blocks H1 to H4 form a tight grouping that resembles that of the fold 
and as such responds well to the context of the area. In terms of the 
remaining plots, the linear route is response to the site. Details will be 
important especially in elevation, along with materials. 
 
A full hard and soft landscape plan will be required together with maintenance 
and management plans. There appears to be no footway for the greenway 
link beyond the smaller parking area to the northern end of the site near the 
entrance. The layout appears to retain a large extent of the existing vegetation 
and existing trees which can be enhanced by forming green corridors and 
links throughout the site through carefully designed planting in gardens along 
boundaries.  
 
Residential Amenity:  
 
UDP policy BE12 recommends that new dwellings should be designed to 
provide privacy and open space for their occupants and physical separation 
from adjacent property and land. UDP policy BE12 recommends minimum 
acceptable distances of: 

• 21 metres between facing habitable room windows 

• 12 metres between a habitable room window and a blank wall or a wall 
containing a non-habitable room window. 

• 10.5 metres between a habitable room window and the boundary of 
any adjacent undeveloped land, and 

• 1.5 metres between the wall of a new dwelling and the boundary of any 
adjacent land (other than a highway) 

 
Distances less than these will be acceptable if it can be shown that by reason 
of permanent screening, changes in level or innovative design, no detriment 
would be caused to existing or future occupiers of the dwellings or to any 
adjacent premises or potential development land. 
 
A full assessment of the scale and appearance of the dwellings, to include the 
positioning of windows would be assessed as reserved matters. The closest 
relationship would be with No’s 13-19 Netherton Fold from the proposed 
apartment blocks.  
 
It is considered an acceptable scheme could be brought forward at reserved 
matters stage which would meet the requirements of distances between 
dwellings as set out in policy BE12 of the UDP, and would ensure there would 
not be a detrimental loss of privacy or amenity to neighbouring properties, 
their habitable room windows or garden areas.  
 
Heritage Considerations: 
 
The application site adjoins the Netherton (Corn Bank) Conservation Area 
with the access via Station Road from Netherton Fold falling within the 
Conservation Area. 

Page 38



 
 
 

25

 
The Conservation Area is characterised by three small late 18th, early 19th 
century clustered settlements within a hillside setting with later large 19th 
century houses set within spacious grounds being located in between the 
settlements.  
 
There are a number of listed buildings within the Conservation Area. Stone 
walls predominate with mature trees being an important feature throughout 
the area. There is little public open space. On street parking predominates 
with little opportunity for improvement. 
 
Whilst the development proposed would be visible within views out of the 
Conservation Area it is considered that the development proposed would not 
impact adversely upon its setting and character. The opportunity to provide off 
street parking for residents of Netherton Fold will help to reduce the extent of 
on street parking which will help to enhance the character of the area. 
 
Ecological Issues:  
 
UDP Policy EP11 requires that applications for planning permission should 
incorporate landscaping which protects/enhances the ecology of the site. An 
ecological appraisal has been undertaken that confirms the majority of the site 
is of low ecological value with hard standing surfaces and ephemeral 
vegetation. Areas of woodland to the north and adjacent to east and west 
provide high ecological value. Buildings on site have negligible potential for 
roosting bats. One tree was determined to have low potential for roosting 
bats. It is recommended this is inspected with an endoscope immediately prior 
to its removal.   
 
Impact on the Protected Trees: 
 
A new TPO to protect trees around the site including the woodland areas has 
been served. The arboricultural officer supports the principle of development 
on the site and is satisfied with the amended layout plan. A detailed 
arboricultural method statement will be required by condition. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage Issues:  
 
The NPPF sets out the responsibilities for Local Planning Authorities in 
determining planning applications, including flood risk assessments taking 
climate change into account and the application of the sequential approach.  
 
Yorkshire Water raises no objections. Suds may be a suitable solution for 
surface water disposal in this situation. Recommend a condition that no piped 
discharge of surface water shall take place until works to provide a 
satisfactory outfall for surface water, other than the existing public sewer have 
been completed to accordance with details to be approved.   
 

Page 39



 
 
 

26

The Environment Agency advises that the LPA should satisfy itself that there 
is capacity in the receiving sewer and sewage treatment works to 
accommodate the discharge proposed. 
 
KC Flood Management & Drainage advise that the site is located within flood 
zone 1 and is over 1ha in size. A flood risk assessment is therefore required 
to address the risks from surface water flooding. The application form states 
surface water will be discharged via soakaway but no details have been 
provided. KC Flood Management & Drainage object until further details are 
provided to demonstrate the site can be developed with a viable drainage 
solution and without increasing the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and surrounding area.   
 
It is therefore recommended that if Committee is minded to support the 
principle of the development proposed, the application be delegated to 
Officers in order to resolve the outstanding drainage considerations. If a viable 
drainage solution cannot be found, the application will be brought back to 
Committee for further consideration. 
 
Contaminated Land: 
 
A phase 1 report has been submitted.  The report identified the historical use 
of the site as an old railway station and for agriculture both of which have the 
potential to cause contamination. Therefore the report recommends that an 
intrusive site investigation be carried out to ascertain what, if any, 
contamination is present. Conditions are therefore recommended to require 
the submission of a phase 2 report and remediation strategy. 
 
The Environmental Agency considers that the controlled waters at this site are 
of low environmental sensitivity and will not be providing detailed site-specific 
advice or comments with regards to land contamination.  
 
Viability / Section 106 Contributions:  
 
Public Open Space 
 
The site being over 0.4 ha triggers the requirement for the provision of public 
open space. It is proposed that an off-site contribution be made to improve 
existing open space within the vicinity of the site at Lightenfield rec and play 
area in Netherton. KC Landscape advises that the value of contribution in lieu 
of a formal equipped provision on site is £37,950. 
 
Affordable Housing  
 
UDP Policies H10 and H12 together with the Councils Supplementary 
Planning Document set out the requirement for affordable housing. 
 
The development proposed exceeds the 10 dwelling threshold advocated by 
Government advice. 
 

Page 40



 
 
 

27

As the application is in outline the provision affordable housing as part of the 
development will be required by condition. 
 
Education 
 
The number of dwellings proposed is below the threshold for an education 
contribution. 
 
Meltham Greenway Contribution 
 
The estimated cost of providing a section of cycleway on land within the 
applicants control is in the order of £100K. 
 
A contribution of £42K towards this cost has already been secured from the 
redevelopment of the former Pink Link site, off Crosland Factory Lane, 
Netherton, leaving a balance of £58K. 
 
It is proposed that a contribution of £47K be secured from this development 
and whilst the provision of resident metro cards would be desirable, it is 
considered that such a contribution (£11K) would be better used towards 
meeting the costs of implementing the section of cycleway. 
 
Representations: 
 
27 representations have been received that are detailed in the 
Representations section of the report.  
 
Representations in support focus on the opportunity to enhance the 
appearance of the site, the reuse of a brownfield site, delivering an extension 
to the Meltham Greenway and the benefit of delivering new housing. 
 
Objections to the proposed development focus on concerns about highway 
safety, drainage, heritage considerations, ecology and wildlife, impact on 
Green Belt, loss of amenity and impact on local infrastructure. 
 
These matters are considered within the assessment of the application.  
 
KC Highway Safety comment specifically on the request for traffic calming: 
 

- Lea Lane / Netherton Fold is the subject of occasional complaint about 
narrow roads / blind bends / sub-standard or non-existent footways / 
excess speeds. The injury accident stats for the last 5 years show a 
collision in 2011 between 2 cars outside house no 53 and a head-on 
collision in 2013 outside Magdale House, near Wood Bottom Road. 
This is a low accident level, and we have to accept that accidents will 
occur to some extent on routes of this nature. It certainly wouldn’t be 
classed as a priority site for any sort of engineering measures from the 
Council’s Highway Safety budget. There are occasional complaints 
about obstructive on-street parking on Lea Lane. On a positive note, 
this will act as ‘traffic calming’, although some drivers will always drive 

Page 41



 
 
 

28

faster than is ideal for the conditions. KC Highway Safety aren’t 
convinced that any physical measures will make an appreciable 
difference to the speeds that residents are witnessing and it is also 
debatable as to how far a traffic calming scheme should extend along 
the route. The footway here is narrow and it is not possible to install 
any measure which separates pedestrians from vehicles without 
blocking the footway itself. The 20mph limit on Magdale was imposed 
following much complaint about driver behaviour and property damage. 
However, complaints are still being received (more than for Netherton 
Fold) which reinforces the belief that 20mph limits are not an effective 
speed reduction measure. Certainly, the comments we receive are that 
the 20mph limit is ignored. 

 
Conclusion: 
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. It is 
considered that the proposed development is in accordance with the 
principles of sustainable development. 
 
The development proposed is considered to be inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt. However, the harm to the openness of the Green Belt 
as a result of the development proposed is tempered by the fact that existing 
development within the site is considered to already have a harmful impact 
upon openness and that overall the resultant harm will be no greater than that 
which already exists. 
 
The applicant puts forward a case for very special circumstances based upon 
the opportunity to secure land for and a financial contribution towards the 
implementation of a significant section of cycleway that forms part of the 
Meltham greenway. Realising a section of cycleway that is part of a strategic 
route linking Meltham with Netherton, with the wider benefits this delivers in 
terms of sustainability, accessibility, opportunities for recreation and access to 
open countryside are considered to outweigh any resultant harm. 
 
The opportunity to deliver new housing at a time of general need when the 
Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land whilst not 
being part of the very special circumstances does in itself weigh in favour of 
development. 
 
The application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 
development plan and other material considerations. The proposals are 
considered to be acceptable. 
 
As the application represents inappropriate development within the Green 
Belt, with the buildings to be created being more than 1,000 sqm it is 
necessary to refer the application to the Secretary of State under the 
provisions of the Town & Country Planning Consultations Direction 2009. 
 

Page 42



 
 
 

29

9. RECOMMENDATION  
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISISON SUBJECT TO 
DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 

i. RESOLVE THE OUTSTANDING DRAINAGE ISSUES  
ii. REFERAL OF THE APPLICATION TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE TOWN & COUNTRY PLANNING 
CONSULTATIONS DIRECTION 2009. SHOULD THE SECRETARY 
OF STATE NOT WISH TO INTERVENE THEN: 

iii. ENTER INTO A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE THE 
DEDICATION OF LAND AND A CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS 
PROVISION OF AN EXTENSION TO THE MELTHAM GREENWAY 

iv. IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, 
WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE SET OUT BELOW, AND 

v. PROVIDED THAT THERE ARE NO NEW MATERIAL CHANGES, 
ISSUE THE DECISION. 

 
Conditions 
 
1. Approval of the details of the appearance, scale, and landscaping of the 
site (hereinafter called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced.  
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the appearance, scale, and landscaping of the site shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans.  
 
3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.  
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or, in the 
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved.  
 
5. Notwithstanding the submitted plans and information, an Arboricultural 
Method Statement, in accordance with British BS 5837 shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before development 
commences. The method statement shall include details on how the 
construction work will be undertaken with minimal damage to the adjacent 
protected trees and their roots. Thereafter, the development shall be carried 
out in complete accordance with the Arboricultural Method Statement. 
 
6. The development shall not be brought into use until the vehicle parking 
areas shown on the approved plans have been surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the Communities and Local Government; and Environment 
Agencies ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing of front gardens (parking 
areas)’ published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864) as amended or 

Page 43



 
 
 

30

superseded; and thereafter retained throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
7. No development, except for the demolition of buildings approved by this 
permission shall take place until a scheme detailing the proposed internal 
adoptable estate roads has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include full sections, drainage 
works, street lighting, signing, surface finishes and the treatment of sight 
lines, together with an independent safety audit covering all aspects of work. 
Before any building is brought into use the scheme shall be completed in 
accordance with the scheme shown on approved plans and retained 
thereafter. 
 
8. No development shall take place until the details of the junction and 
associated highway works at the junction of Station Road and Netherton Fold 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  No building shall be occupied until the works to provide the junction 
have been completed in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the 
developer shall subsidise the cost of a Metro travel card for the benefit of 
future occupiers in accordance with the Residential Metrocard scheme 
 
10. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing measures to 
prevent mud and debris being brought from the site onto the public highway 
during construction works has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
throughout the construction period. 
 
11. Development shall not commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 
 
12. Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 11 development shall not 
commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 
 
13. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 12.  In the 
event that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local planning authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 

Page 44



 
 
 

31

approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 
14. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the local planning authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, no part of the site 
shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for the 
whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
15. No material operation as defined in Section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
affordable housing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the arrangements shall cover the following matters:- 
a) the number and type of affordable housing units to be provided. 
b) the layout and disposition of the units affordable housing to be provided. 
c) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the affordable 
housing units; 
d) the mechanism for ensuring that the affordable housing units remain 
affordable for both the initial and subsequent occupiers. 
 
FOOTNOTE (Highways) 
The granting of planning permission does not authorise the carrying out of 
works within the highway, for which the written permission of the Council as 
Highway Authority is required. You are required to consult the Design 
Engineer, Civic Centre 3, Market Street, Huddersfield (Kirklees Highway 
Design: 01484 221000) with regard to obtaining this permission and approval 
of the construction specification. Please also note that the construction of 
vehicle crossings within the highway is deemed to be major works for the 
purposes of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (Section 84 and 85). 
Interference with the highway without such permission is an offence which 
could lead to prosecution. 
 
FOOTNOTE (Contamination) 
 
All contamination reports shall be prepared in accordance with CLR11, 
PPS23 and the Council’s Advice for Development documents or any 
subsequent revisions of those documents. 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 
 
 

32

Application No: 2016/90973 

Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Erection of two storey school and two storey modular 
building and demolition of existing school 

Location: Mount Pleasant Junior Infant And Nursery School, Mount 
Street, Lockwood, Huddersfield, HD1 3QP 

 
Grid Ref: 413718.0 415412.0  

Ward: Crosland Moor and Netherton Ward 

Applicant: C Blanshard, Kier Construction 

Agent: Matthew Bradshaw 

Target Date: 22-Jul-2016 

Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

FAIR STREET

7 1 .6 m

B
at

h 
M

ill
s

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

99 to 103

M i l ls

15
8

M o s q u e

17

16
6

17
8

16
4

MACHAM STREET

7 2 .5 m

15

3
6125

W o rk s

5

P
a
t h

 (
um

)

1

1 0 3 .3 m

(Un i ts  1 -2 1 )

Pe rs e v e ra n c e  M i l ls

(Un i ts  1  to  2 9 )

Ga te h o u s e

Su b  Sta

El  Su b  Sta

El En te rp ri s e  Ce n t re

W o rk s

Y
M

C
A

LO
C
K
W

O
O

D
 R

O
A
D

175-177

7 3 .5 m
Ga ra g e

Ga ra g e

31

Bro a d f ie ld  In d u s t ria l

21
0

20
6

23
2

Ga ra g e

22
8

23
4a23

4

a

CR
O

W
TH

ER
 STR

EET

M o u n t  P le a s a n t  J u n i o r
In fa n t & Nu rs e ry  Sc h o o l

23
4b

181 to 187

199

191
193

195197

201

189

El  Su b  Sta

207
207a

7 4 .1 m

205

240

C
lub

PH

24
4

238

246a

24
6

215-219

7 7 .7 m
a24
8

24
8

209

She
lte

r

25
0

256

B
ap

tist C
h
u
rch

L
oc

kw
o
o
d

225

PO

Po s ts

C
o 

C
on

st
 &

 W
ar

d 
Bdy

B
or

o 
C
on

st
 B

dy

6

260

3

10

6

9

16

11

D
O

C
K

E
R

Y

8

8

12 13

14
15

Su b  Sta

18
6 179

2

17

10

99

15

SW
AN LANE

Su rg e ry

ARMYTAGE

28

14

CRESCENT

26 24

1

23
21

25

3

14

1

8 3 .5 m

2 to
 16

27

12

10

2
0
116

16a
18

8 5 .6 m

2
0

20
0

24

8

1
2

9

5
2 32

3
0

36

13

5

1
0

1
3 1

8

9

2
4

1
1

9 0 .8 m

18 to
 32

PH

43 to 57

26

4
3

6
3

5
5

5
4

5
7

4
5

N
O

R
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

3
1

6
5

3
3

6
4

1
9 2
1

1
7

3
1
5

30

59

63

65

69
67

61

3
6
 to

 4
0

2

34

O
X

F
O

R
D

 P
L

A
C

E

4

81
261
0

75
79

a
a

a

77

SW
AN LANE

2
2

1
4

34
30

1
8

2
62
02
4

B
E
N

TLE
Y

 S
TR

E
E

T
33

9 0 .5 m

28
32

Depot

7 2 .2 m

6

11

BATH STREET

El

13

74

2

Su b  Sta

18
6

18
2

18
4

MOUNT PLEASANT

1
80

18
8

20
4

20
0 19

6

19
8

1
9019

2

19
4

20
2

20
6

7 3 .5 m

W o rk s

2
08

21
2

206a

21
0

ALB
E
R
T 

S
TR

E
E
T

4

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

6
8

2

24

8

1

1
3

2

6

4

10
12

145

El Su b  Sta

46

64

48

68

36

62

34

7 4 .7 m

M
O

UN
T STR

EET

M o u n t Pl e a s a n t
Sp o rts  Ce n tre

22

66

147

23
2

8 3 .5 m

8 2 .9 m

13
6

L B

14
0

3
0

37

8 5 .3 m

Bo wl i n g  Gre e n

171

163

24
2 23
6

El  Su b  Sta

16
4

1
8

16
0

F
E

N
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

16
2

8 a

16
2

15
4

3

17
09 0 .5 m

a

VIC
TO

R
IA

 R
O

A
D

9
7

5

17
2

2

8 5 .6 m

184

TCB

1

El

17
4

139

72

70
76

11
8

74

13
0

13
2

25

UP
PER

 M
O
U
N
T S

TR
EET

88

29

17

21

19

86

27

102

23

9 6 .0 m

104

57

59

61

1 0 0 .3 m

4
7

53

3
4

4
1

2
7

17
2

3
7

49
51

52

44

56

53

54

475
1

NORTHFIELD AVENUE

N
O

R
T

H
F

IE
L
D

 G
R

O
V

E

Al l o tm e n t  Ga rd e n s

24

2
2

31

1
1

2
1

26

4
2

13

1
8

1

1
5

7

11
7

16

6

5
8

9 9 .4 m

6
0

7
4

7
6

6
2

7
0

7
2

6
8

6
6

9
8

8
8

7
5

8
1

7
3

8
9

7
1

9
5

9
9

1
0
5

1
0

3

1
0

7

9
3

9
7

1
0

9

T
ra

c
k

1
2
5

1
3

4
1
3
0

1
2
7

1
3

1 N
O

R
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

1
3
3

T
ra

c
k

1
1

5

1

1
1

9

1
1

7

1
1

3

2

1
2
1

3

1
1
1

1 1 3 .7 m

2

T
ra

c
k

Al lo tm e n t  Ga rd e n s

El  Su b  Sta

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only

Page 46



 
 
 

33

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application Details  
Type of Development Erection of two storey school and two storey modular 

building and demolition of existing school 
Scale of Development Site area:  

1.4ha 
units/m2: N/A 

No. Jobs Created or Retained  N/A 
Policy  
UDP allocation Unallocated 

Independent Viability Required  No  
Representation/Consultation  
Individual Support (No.) 0 
Individual Objection (No.) 0 
Petition   
Ward Member Interest No  

Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

No  

Contributions  

• Affordable Housing N/A 

• Education N/A 

• Public Open Space N/A 

• Other N/A 

Other Issues  

Any Council Interest? Yes The site is owned by the Council 
Planning Pre-application 
advice? 

Yes  

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

Yes  

Comment on Application 
 
 

In such circumstances it is considered that there are no 
adverse impacts of granting permission which would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies in the National 
Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole, or that 
specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted. In such circumstances the application is 
recommended for approval. 
 

Page 47



 
 
 

34

 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought before the Strategic Planning Committee in 
accordance with the Council’s delegation agreement as the application relates 
to the provision of non-residential floor space on a site exceeding 0.5ha in 
area. 
 
The application has been submitted under the Priority School Building 
Programme (PSBP) which is a centrally managed Government programme 
set up with the aim of addressing the needs of schools most in need of urgent 
repair.   
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site comprises a Local Authority Primary School bordered by 
Lockwood Road to the south, Mount Street to the east, and Victoria Road to 
the north. The main teaching block is centrally located on the site with sports 
hall and Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) to the north of this. A further hard 
surfaced play area is positioned to the south of the school buildings.  
 
Permission is sought for the demolition of the existing school buildings and 
the erection of a two storey school and two storey modular building.  The 
existing clock tower will be retained.   
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2012/90898 – Erection of modular classroom – Granted 
 
2009/92595 – Erection of fence – Approved 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
Unitary Development Plan: 
 
The site is unallocated on the Unitary Development Plan proposals map: 
 
D2 – Unallocated Land 
BE1 – General Design Principles 
BE2 – Quality of Design 
BE22 – Parking Facilities for People with Disabilities 
EP4 – Noise Sensitive Developments 
EP6 – Noise levels 
T10 - Highway Safety 
T16 – Provision of safe pedestrian routes in new development 
T17 – Consideration of the needs of cyclists in new development 
T19 – Parking Standards 
NE9 – Retention of mature trees 
BE23 – Crime prevention 
G6 – Land Contamination 

Page 48



 
 
 

35

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Core Planning Principles 
Chapter 4 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
Chapter 7 – Requiring Good Design 
Chapter 8 – Promoting Healthy Communities 
Chapter 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 
Chapter 12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
The following is a brief summary of Consultee advice (more details are 
contained in the assessment section of the report, where appropriate): 
 
K.C Highways DM - No objections subject to imposition of conditions 
 
K.C Environmental Services - No objections subject to imposition of 
conditions 
 
K.C Flood Management Drainage - No objections 
 
K.C Conservation and Design - No objection 
 
K.C Arboricultural Officer - No objections subject to imposition of condition 
 
Yorkshire Water - Recommend imposition of conditions, should planning 
permission be granted 
 
Sport England (Non- Statutory) - No objection, however advise that the 
Local Planning Authority should be satisfied that the proposed development 
accords with Paragraph 74 of the NPPF 
 
West Yorkshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer: Recommend that the 
development accords with the requirements of Secured by Design New 
Schools Guidance 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been advertised by neighbour notification letter, site 
notices and notice in the press.  No representations have been received as a 
result of site publicity.  
 

Page 49



 
 
 

36

8. ASSESSMENT 
 
General principle: 
 
The school has a defined built envelope bordered by the existing road 
network to the north, east and south and commercial development to the 
west. The site is unallocated on the Unitary Development Plan proposals 
map. Policy D2 (development of land without notation) of the UDP states 
“planning permission for the development … of land and buildings without 
specific notation on the proposals map, and not subject to specific policies in 
the plan, will be granted provided that the proposals do not prejudice [a 
specific set of considerations]”. All these considerations are addressed later in 
this assessment.  
 
Paragraphs 72 and 74 of the NPPF are also applicable to the proposed 
development and are an important factor in the assessment of such an 
application.  Para. 72 states that: 
 
“ ..the Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient 
choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities.  Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, positive and 
collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that 
will widen choice in education.  They should: 
- Give great weight to the need to create, expand and alter schools; and  
- Work with schools promotors to identify and resolve key planning issues 

before applications are submitted”. 
 
Paragraph 74 of the NPPF states that existing open space, sports and 
recreational buildings and land should not be built on unless: 
 
- An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 

space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
- The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 

equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 

- The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 
needs for which clearly outweigh the loss 

 
As can be seen from the wording of Para. 72, the NPPF gives great weight 
and importance to school based proposals. From a decision making 
perspective, this should weigh considerably in favour of this proposal. With 
regard to Para. 74, a full assessment is set out later in this report. 
 
Design and Layout: 
 
The site is located adjacent high density residential development to the north 
and east and lower density industrial uses to the south and west. The site 
slopes from north to south. 
 

Page 50



 
 
 

37

The existing school buildings comprise a series of two storey and single 
storey buildings of varying age and condition, located across the site. Hard 
play areas and an existing Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) are located to the 
north and south of the main block of teaching accommodation, and the 
existing car park is sited to the south west, accessed from Lockwood Road.  
 
The proposed development would result in the creation of one two storey 
building; the location of this is informed primarily by the topographical 
constraints of the site, in addition to the requirements of a phased 
construction to retain pupils on-site during the works. The proposed building 
would consist of classrooms running east-west with hall and kitchen 
orientated north-south.   
 
The proposed school building would be located on a plateau with grass 
seeded landscape between the existing MUGA and new ground floor level of 
the new school building.  A further soft and hard informal/social area would be 
provided to the north-west part of the site, whilst the existing soft 
informal/social area within the south east corner would be retained.    
 
The proposed development would be delivered through a phasing strategy 
which would ensure a safe working environment for the construction team and 
maintain safety and security for the school, its staff, pupils and the general 
public: 
 
Part 1: Site set up, erection of temporary classrooms and decant  
 
Part 2a: Demolish low level school (during this phase, the temporary school 
will be operational) 
 
Part 2b: Construction of new build school and decant including construction of 
some associated hard play areas to low level areas 
 
Part 3a: Removal of temporary classrooms and demolition of remaining 
school 
 
Part 3b: External works and reinstatement of MUGA 
 
Impact on Amenity: 
 
Visual Amenity 
 
The design of the proposed development, as indicated above, is considered 
to be functional and of a modern appearance which would not detract from the 
character of the area. The main entrance to the new school would be 
referenced using locally sourced sandstone (taking into account the use of 
stone as the predominant material within the immediate locality), whilst the 
remaining part of the building would be faced in grey brick to the ground floor 
level with cream coloured render above. In addition the hall block would be 
faced in a profile metal cladding.   
 

Page 51



 
 
 

38

The proposed temporary building would be two storeys in scale and of a 
standard modular building with openings to the north and south elevations.  
 
Consequently, it is considered that the proposals would accord with Policies 
BE1 and BE2 of the Unitary Development and guidance contained within 
Chapter 7 of the NPPF with respect to the impact on visual amenity.   
 
Residential Amenity 
 
By virtue of the layout of the development as set out above, this would result 
in the proposed buildings being located a similar distance from residential 
development as the existing school buildings.  As such, the proposals would 
not result in a loss of privacy to the adjoining occupiers on Mount Street and 
Victoria Road. Furthermore, due to the extent of separation between the new 
buildings and existing residential properties the development would not result 
in overshadowing to these dwellings, nor would it have an overbearing impact, 
in accordance with Policies D2, BE1 and BE2 of the Unitary Development 
Plan. 
 
A Noise Assessment has been submitted as part of the application which 
focuses on the quality of the internal acoustic environment within the School. 
As little detail is provided regarding the proposed plant associated with the 
school, it would be necessary for a further report to be submitted detailing 
external plant and any mitigation measures proposed, in order to protect the 
amenity of occupants  of the adjacent noise sensitive properties on Mount 
Street and Victoria Road.  This would ensure that the proposed development 
would accord with Policy EP4 of the Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Heritage Impact:  
 
The original school (former community centre) dates from 1875. The school 
building is typical of its time in terms of detailing, however the clock tower is of 
interest in terms of its design. The building is not listed nor in a Conservation 
Area, however due to its design could be considered to constitute a Non 
Designated Heritage Asset as described by the NPPF, due to its importance 
in the local area, in terms of architectural quality and the design being that of 
a local architect. Para. 135 of the NPPF states that the effect on the 
significance of the Non Designated Heritage Asset should be taken into 
account in determining any application for planning permission. In weighing 
such decisions a balanced judgement is required, having regard to the scale 
of harm caused and the significance of the asset.   
 
A Heritage Impact Assessment has been submitted by the applicant to assess 
the harm as a result of the proposed development and the overall significance 
of the building. This notes that some harm will result to the heritage assets on 
the site from the removal of the former community centre, both in the loss of 
the community centre itself and the effect that this will have on the remaining 
clock tower. The proposed development includes the retention of the clock 
tower in order to provide an opportunity to secure its sustainable future and 
ensure its upkeep.   

Page 52



 
 
 

39

 
Officers have assessed the submitted Heritage Impact Assessment and would 
concur with the conclusions set out within it, that any harm resulting from the 
loss of the original school building would be less than substantial and that the 
public benefit of developing a fit for purpose school mitigates this impact.  
 
On the above basis, the proposed development is considered to accord with 
the guidance set out within Part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Highway issues: 
 
The site is located on land between the A616 Lockwood Road and Victoria 
Road. The school grounds are bounded by Lockwood Road to the south, 
commercial properties and a bowling green to the west, Victoria Road to the 
north and residential dwellings to the east.  
 
A Transport Statement has been provided by Curtins which informs all traffic 
and transportation matters associated with the application. 
 
Access Arrangements  
 
The existing school has three separate pedestrian accesses on Mount Street 
which are used for different purposes.  The most northerly access is open 
only during the morning and is then locked throughout the day, although is 
also used for out of hours access to the sports centre and MUGA.  To the 
front of this access is a gate recess which is used as a turning head by 
vehicles using Mount Street.   
 
The central access on Mount Street forms the main pedestrian access to the 
school and is open throughout the school day.  All deliveries and visitors to 
the site are required to utilise this access.  The third, most southerly access 
on Mount Street is open at the start and finish of the school day, although 
locked outside of these periods. This offers the most direct access to the bus 
services on Lockwood Road. 
 
The pedestrian access on Victoria Road offers only access to the nursery and 
this is via a steep ramp.  This access is not available throughout the school 
day as it is locked.   
 
Drop off provision and parking provision 
 
There is no on site drop off provision for pupils.  Site observations 
demonstrate that students are dropped off by the school entrances on Mount 
Street, Victoria Road or Lockwood Road. 
 
The staff car park is located to the south of the existing school building and is 
accessed from Lockwood Road.  This provides spaces for 31 vehicles with no 
disabled parking as there is currently no disabled access to the school from 
the car park. 
 

Page 53



 
 
 

40

It is proposed that the existing car park access will be retained for staff with 
the car park capacity increased to 36 spaces including one car charging 
space and one disabled space. 
 
Access to the site by all modes of travel 
 
The road network surrounding the site has footways available for pedestrian 
use and the carriageways are well lit by street lighting.  There is already a 
relatively high pedestrian footfall in the area due to the school being located 
within an existing established residential area and the site being established 
for educational purposes. 
 
There are bus stops located outside the school on Lockwood Road. Services 
run between Huddersfield and various destinations.  The closest rail stations 
to the site are Lockwood and Huddersfield which can be connected to by the 
bus services outlined above, or by walking and cycling.  Lockwood Station is 
on the Huddersfield to Sheffield rail line and offers one service per hour in 
each direction.  Huddersfield Station is on the main Transpennine rail link 
which offers five trains per hour. 
 
Accident Records 
 
There have been no recorded injury accidents in the vicinity of the site at 
school start and finish times. 
 
Existing and Proposed Staff and Pupil Numbers 
 
The school is currently operating at capacity.  There are 630 pupils in addition 
to 39 nursery pupils, ranging between the ages of 3 and 11.  The proposed 
development would result in the capacity of the school to remain at the 
present levels.   
 
There are currently 105 staff employed at the site.  This includes both part 
time and full time staff and both teaching and non-teaching staff.  This number 
of staff would be retained as a result of the new development.  
 
Pupil surveys included within the submitted Travel Plan accompanying the 
application indicate that the school is very sustainable in terms of green travel 
with 61% of pupils travelling by sustainable modes (walking, cycling, Public 
Transport) and only 39% using a car to travel to the school.   
 
On the basis of the above, the proposals will result in no increase in staff or 
pupils at the site.   
 
To summarise, therefore, there would be additional vehicle trips as a result of 
the proposed development. Given that it is not proposed to increase the 
capacity of the school and existing pedestrian and vehicular accesses are to 
be retained, Officers considered that there would be no detrimental impact 
upon highway safety as a result of the proposals, in accordance with policies 
D2, T10 and T19 of the Unitary Development Plan.  

Page 54



 
 
 

41

 
Other Matters: 
 
Trees 
 
The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Report and tree removal 
plan. This indicates the removal of 11 trees across the site as a whole.  The 
Council’s Arboricultural Officer has confirmed that they have no objections to 
the extent of this tree removal.   
 
There is a band of trees to the south east corner of the site which is 
considered by Officers to have a degree of public amenity value.  These trees 
would not be affected by the proposals. As such, the proposals are 
considered to be in accordance with Policy NE9 of the Unitary Development 
Plan.  
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and the Environment Agency raises no 
objection to the proposed development.   
 
A Drainage Strategy has been submitted as part of the proposals and through 
the course of the application, drainage calculations have been submitted by 
the applicant to support this. The Council’s Flood Management and Drainage 
Team have confirmed that the submitted information is acceptable, in 
accordance with government guidance contained within Part 10 of the NPPF.   
 
Yorkshire Water records indicate that a 4” water main and 375mm public 
combined sewer cross the site. As such, conditions are recommended to 
ensure an adequate stand-off distance to adequately protect this 
infrastructure.  
 
Crime Prevention 
 
The West Yorkshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer recommends that the 
development accords with the requirements of Secured by Design New 
Schools Guidance and has invited further information from the applicant on 
this basis.  Notwithstanding this, the applicant has confirmed that the design 
of the building would adhere to an equivalent standard, and on this basis, 
Officers consider that no further details are required. 
 
Sport England 
 
Sport England does not consider the proposed development to fall within their 
statutory or non-statutory remit, however, they state that if the proposal 
involves the loss of any sports facility, then full consideration should be given 
to whether the proposals meet the requirements of Para. 74 of the NPPF. 
 
The proposed development would involve the erection of the two storey 
modular building on the existing MUGA.  Once the new school is occupied, 

Page 55



 
 
 

42

the modular building would be removed and the MUGA would receive a new 
surface finish.  During the construction period, alternative outdoor play 
provision would be provided on the south west part of the site, however it is 
noted that there would be some short periods when no outdoor play provision 
would be available.  During these times, the school proposes to use the sports 
hall.   
 
The proposals would result in the loss of the existing MUGA provision 
throughout the construction period, however this loss would be temporary, 
and Officers consider that this would be outweighed by the unique opportunity 
to obtain sufficient and substantial funding to secure the comprehensive 
redevelopment of this school site.  This will result in much needed modern 
facilities designed to deliver the best possible educational outcomes for the 
community. This, in turn, will have long term benefits by creating the social, 
recreational and cultural facilities that this community needs for a healthy 
future.  
 
Contaminated Land 
 
A contaminated land assessment has been undertaken which indicates that 
there are some contaminants present associated with the historic made 
ground at the site.  However, the submitted information recommends 
proposals which will adequately deal with the risks, in accordance with policy 
G6 of the Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Objections:  
 
None received 
 
Conclusion: 
 
The proposals represent a form of development which is afforded great weight 
and importance within the NPPF; the application would result in proposals to 
upgrade the existing educational facilities on the site. 
 
The design of this development is considered to be acceptable and 
sustainable and the proposal would not result in any significant detrimental 
impact to local amenity, local ecology/biodiversity, and heritage assets in the 
immediate vicinity or the local highway network. 
 
In such circumstances it is considered that there are no adverse impacts of 
granting permission which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted. In such circumstances the application is recommended for 
approval. 
 
 

Page 56



 
 
 

43

9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date on which permission is granted. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the plans and specifications listed in this decision notice, 
except as may be specified in the conditions attached to this permission, 
which shall in all cases take precedence. 
 
3. No development of the superstructure of the new (permanent) school 
building shall take place until samples of all facing and roofing materials has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
and the development shall be constructed of the approved materials. 
 
4. No building or other obstruction including landscape features shall be 
located over or within 4.0 (four) metres either side of the centre line of the 
public sewer i.e. a protected strip width of (8 metres) located within the site.  If 
the required stand-off distance is to be achieved via diversion or closure of the 
sewer, the developer shall submit evidence to the Local Planning Authority 
that the diversion or closure has been agreed with the relevant statutory 
undertaker. 
 
5. No building or other obstruction including landscape features shall be 
located over or within 3.0 (three) metres either side of the centre line of the 
water mains i.e. protected strip widths of (6) metres, located within the site.  If 
the required stand-off distance is to be achieved via diversion or closure of the 
water mains the developer shall submit evidence to the Local Planning 
Authority that the diversion or closure has been agreed with the relevant 
statutory undertaker.  
 
6. The proposed car park hereby approved shall be laid out, surfaced, marked 
out into bays and drained in accordance with details that have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the new 
(permanent) school is brought into use.   
 
7. A schedule of the means of access to the site for construction traffic shall 
be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
construction commencing. The schedule shall include the point of access for 
construction traffic, details of the times of use of use of the access, the routing 
construction traffic to and from the site, temporary TROs to restrict parking on 
Mount Street, construction workers’ parking facilities and the provision, use 
and retention of adequate wheel washing facilities within the site.  All 
construction arrangements shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved schedule throughout the period of construction. 
 
8. A scheme detailing measures to manage parking on Mount Street and all 
associated works, together with the appropriate Safety Audits shall be 

Page 57



 
 
 

44

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
the development is brought in use. No part of the development shall be 
brought into use until the approved scheme has been implemented.  
 
9. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
Travel Plan (produced by Curtins, Ref: TPLE1158/TP dated 13 April 2016).  
The approved Travel Plan shall be operated at all times that the development 
is occupied and shall be reviewed and updated on an annual basis in 
accordance with the details that are outlined in the approved plan.  The Travel 
Plan and all updates shall be produced in accordance with current national, 
regional and local best practice guidance and shall include details of 
operation, Travel Plan Coordinator/s, targets, infrastructure to be provided, 
measures that will be implemented, monitoring and review mechanisms, 
procedures for remedial action that may be required and a timetable for 
implementing the plan.  
 
10. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the submitted Remediation Strategy  In the event that remediation is 
unable to proceed in accordance with the approved Remediation Strategy or 
contamination not previously considered [in either the Preliminary Risk 
Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation Report] is identified or 
encountered on site, all works on site (save for site investigation works) shall 
cease immediately and the Local Planning Authority shall be notified in writing 
within 2 working days.  Works shall not recommence until proposed revisions 
to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved revised Remediation Strategy. 
 
11. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy, a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  No part 
of the site shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation 
measures for the whole site have been completed in accordance with the 
approved Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation 
Strategy and a Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures 
have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
12. A report specifying the measures to be taken to protect the occupants of 
nearby noise sensitive premises on Mount Street and Victoria Road from 
noise from the proposed development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before development of the 
superstructure of the new (permanent) school building commences. The 
report shall include: 

1. an assessment of noise emissions from the proposed development; 
2. details of background and predicted noise levels at the boundary of the 

site; 
3. a written scheme of how the occupants of Mount Street and Victoria 

Road will be protected from noise from the proposed development with 
noise attenuation measures as appropriate 

Page 58



 
 
 

45

The development shall not be brought into use until all works comprised within 
the measures specified in the approved report have been carried out in full 
and such works shall be thereafter retained.  
 
This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 
Site Location Plan MMD-332309-C-DR-00-

XX-0813 
 22.04.16 

Proposed External 
Lighting 

4.2.8 P1 22.04.16 

Design and Access 
Statement 

BDP_MPP_(PL)REP101 A 22.04.16 

Fencing Proposals 1.2.7.1 03 22.04.16 
Travel Plan TPLE1158/TP 01 22.04.16 
Site Plan – 
Temporary 
Accommodation 

BDP_MPP_A(SK)120 B 16.06.16 

Temporary 
Accommodation – 
Ground Floor Plan 

402 15 01 S-11 16.06.16 

Temporary 
Accommodation – 
Services Layout 

402 15 06 S-2 16.06.16 

Temporary 
Accommodation – 
First Floor Plan 

402 15 02 S-11 16.06.16 

Temporary 
Accommodation – 
Elevations 

402 15 03 S-4 16.06.16 

Transport 
Assessment  

TPLE1158/TA 01 22.04.16 

Proposed Site 
Sections 

1.1.2.1 02 22.04.16 

Phase 2 Ground 
Investigation  

EB1612 A 22.04.16 

Geo-Environmental 
Desk Study 

November 2013  22.04.16 

Site Masterplan 1.1.1 03 22.04.16 
Flood Risk 
Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy 

75653-MP-FRA-SB 02 22.04.16 

Swept Path 
Arrangement of 
Temporary 
Arrangement used by 
Fire Tender 

75653-MP-TP-001 0 22.04.16 

Swept Path Analysis 
of Temporary 

75653-MP-TP-003 0 22.04.16 

Page 59



 
 
 

46

Arrangement used by 
Delivery Lorry 
Swept Path Analysis 
of Temporary 
Arrangement used by 
Refuse Vehicle 

75653_MP-TP-002 0 22.04.16 

Fire Tender Swept 
Path Analysis 

Appendix C A 22.04.16 

Proposed Elevations 
– Axonometric views 

BDP_MPP_A(PL)107  22.04.16 

GA – Sections BDP_MPP_A(PL)106  22.04.16 
GA Elevations – 
North and South 

BDP_MPP_A(PL)104  22.04.16 

GA Elevations – East 
and West 

BDP_MPP_A(PL)105  22.04.16 

Main Entrance view BDP_MPP_A(PL)109  22.04.16 
Aerial view from 
South East 

BDP_MPP_A(PL)108  22.04.16 

Roof Plan BDP_MPP_A(PL)103  22.04.16 

Proposed First Floor 
Plan 

BDP_MPP_A(PL)102  22.04.16 

Proposed Ground 
Floor Plan 

BDP_MPP_A(PL)101  22.04.16 

Arboricultural Report February 2014  22.04.16 
Tree Removal Plan MP_PLI_S3_94_001 01 22.04.16 
Bat Survey Report September 2014  22.04.16 
Ventilation and 
Extraction Statement 

3654_DN_P_03 01 22.04.16 

Heritage Impact 
Assessment 

BDP-MPP(PL)REP102  22.04.16 

Ecological Appraisal January 2014  22.04.16 
Drainage Strategy 75653-MP-DR-001 T3 22.04.16 
Drainage Enabling 
Works 

75653-MP-DR-003 T2 22.04.16 

Drainage Details 
Sheet 1 of 2 

75653-MP-DR-401 T1 22.04.16 

Acoustic Feasibility 
Study 

January 2014  22.04.16 

Sustainability Report 3654_DN_P_01 01 22.04.16 

Utilities Statement 3654_DN_P_02 01 22.04.16 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 
 
 

47

Application No: 2014/91831 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 60 dwellings, formation of 
access public space and associated infrastructure 

Location: Cockley Hill Lane, Kirkheaton, Huddersfield, HD5 0HH 

 
Grid Ref: 418289.0 418029.0  

Ward: Dalton Ward 

Applicant: P Cryan, Hartley Quality Homes 

Agent: Laura Mepham, John R Paley Associates 

Target Date: 15-Sep-2014 

Recommendation: ASD-CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO 
THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

COCKLEY HILL LANE

G
LE

N
D

O
R

N
E
 D

R
IV

E

NEW
BURY W

ALK EPSOM WAY

S
T
 JO

H
N

'S
 R

O
A

D

FIELDS RISE

ST JOHN'S AVENUE

BAN
K F

IE
LD

 L
AN

E

Kirkheaton

C
O

C
K

LE
Y

 M
E

A
D

O
W

S

C
O

C
K

L
E

Y
 H

IL
L L

A
N

E

Kirkheaton

To wn  To p

Co tta g e s

Al l o tm e n t  Ga rd e n s

Gre e n wo o d

Pro s p e c t

Bu i l d i n g s

O
ddf

ello
ws 

Villa
s

TOWN R
OAD

Clu b

NEW
 S

TR
EET

Kirb
y R

ow

KNOWLE R
OAD

Ea s t Gro v e

S
H

O
P

 LA
N

E

PH

PH

W a te r

L
O

W
 F

O
L
D

Sq u a re
Hi l l

T
ra

c
k

W o rk s

F ie ld  He a d

Cl u b
1 2 1 .9 m

FIELDS RISE

Un i te d
Ch u rc h

Ha l l

T h e

EDALECL OSE

1 1 4 .0 m

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only  

Page 61



 
 
 

48

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 

  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO 
DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 
 
1. REFER THE APPLICATION TO THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 

EXECUTIVE UNDER SECTION 9 OF THE PLANNING PRACTICE 
GUIDANCE NOTE. SHOULD THE HEALTH AND SAFETY EXECUTIVE 
NOT INTERVENE THEN: 

 
2. SECURE A SECTION 106 OBLIGATION TO DELIVER: 
• THE PROVISION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
• AN EDUCATION CONTRIBUTION  
• POS ON SITE AND A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION TO IMPROVE OFF 

SITE POS 

Application Details  
Type of Development Residential 
Scale of Development 1.99ha   

No. Jobs Created or Retained  N/a  
Policy  
UDP allocation Provisional Open Land (POL).  
Independent Viability Required  Yes  
Representation/Consultation  
Individual Support (No.) Nil 

Individual Objection (No.) 84 
Petition Yes   130 signatures. 
Ward Member Interest No   
Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

None   

Contributions  

• Affordable Housing 12 units (20% of number of units) 

• Education £160,349     

• Public Open Space On site POS + £28,545 to improve POS off site 

• Other    

Other Issues    
Any Council Interest? No   
Planning Pre-application 
advice? 

Yes   

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

Yes   

Comment on Application 
 
 

The application site is allocated as POL, given that the 
Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing land there is no objection in principle 
to the residential use of the site access to the site is also 
satisfactory. 

Page 62



 
 
 

49

  
3. IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS WHICH 

MAY INCLUDE THOSE BELOW; AND 
 
4. SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO CHANGES WHICH MATERIALLY 

AFFECT THIS RECOMMENDATION ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought to Strategic Planning Committee in accordance 
with the Councils Scheme of Delegation as the proposal represents a 
departure from the Council’s Unitary Development Plan and the number of 
dwellings proposed is 60. 
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
The site comprises an area of 1.99 ha and is located to the west of Cockley 
Hill Lane. It is flanked on 3 sides by existing dwellings on Cockley Hill Lane 
and Town Road. 
 
The site has frontage onto Cockley Hill Lane and slopes down from Cockley 
Hill Lane to the Western boundary. The site is green field and there are a 
significant number of trees particularly along the western edge of the site. 
These trees are protected by a Tree Preservation Order. 
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land (POL) in the Councils Unitary 
Development Plan. The open land to the south of the site is allocated as 
Green Belt. 
 
Proposal 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for residential development with access 
applied for. The application is supported by an indicative layout illustrating 
how 60 dwellings could be accommodated, with a mix of detached, semi-
detached and terrace properties. The access is proposed off Cockley Hill 
Lane, with the indicative layout showing a loop system and a cul de sac, with 
an area of public open space to the bottom end of the site i.e. close to and 
incorporating the majority of the protected trees. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2014/60/92535: Outline application for 49 dwellings and access and 
associated infra structure. Land off Shop Lane, Kirkheaton (this includes the 
former Huddersfield Fine Worsteds site)  

- Application still to be determined and is on this agenda. 
 

Page 63



 
 
 

50

2015/60/90430: Outline application for residential development (indicative no 
of dwellings 126), formation of access and associated infra structure. Land to 
the north and south of Crossley lane, Dalton. 

- Committee resolution to grant outline planning permission subject to 
S106 obligation. 

 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
 Kirklees Unitary Development Plan: 
 
D5 – Provisional open land 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE12 – Space about buildings 
BE23 – Crime prevention 
NE9 – Retention of mature trees 
G6 – Land contamination 
H10 – Affordable housing 
H18 – Provision of open space 
T10 – Highway safety 
T19 – Parking standards 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
 
Part 4. Promoting sustainable transport 
Part 6. Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Part 7. Requiring good design 
Part 8. Promoting healthy communities 
Part 10. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal    
Change 
Part 11. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Other Policy Considerations: 
 
SPD 2 Affordable Housing 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
KC Highways – No objections recommend conditions should permission be 
granted 
 
KC Environmental Health – Recommend conditions should permission be 
granted 
 
KC Trees – No objections in principle. Recommend conditions; a number of 
the units illustrated will need to be re sited to avoid the crown spreads of 2 of 
the protected trees.  
 
KC Environment Unit – The ecology survey has established that the majority 
of the site is agriculturally improved grassland of limited ecological value; 

Page 64



 
 
 

51

there is a marshy area in the bottom of the field and a number of mature trees 
that aside from being protected, would have some foraging value for bats and 
possibly bat roost potential; the development is unlikely to impact on great 
crested newts. The survey also identifies a series of recommendations 
intended to avoid adverse impacts and provide enhancements for biodiversity. 
The conclusions of the report are accepted. Whist this is an outline 
application, the marshy area and mature trees should be retained within any 
future layout as they represent the area with most biodiversity value and 
potential. 
 
KC Strategic Drainage – There will need to be conditions imposed to ensure 
that there is no increase in surface water run-off and sustainable drainage 
options will need to be considered in preparing the drainage strategy for the 
site. This will need to be adequately informed by a comprehensive survey of 
the existing drainage systems within and surround ding the site. These 
matters will be the subject of condition.  
 
KC Strategic Housing – There is a demonstrable need for affordable 
housing in the area, and as a green field site would recommend that 30% of 
floor space be provided. 
 
KC Recreation and Parks – the area of POS shown within the illustrative 
layout is satisfactory. This together with a financial contribution of £28,545, 
towards improving existing POS in the area would satisfy policy H18. This 
area of POS and any financial contribution should be secured would need to 
be secured and maintained as part of a Section 106 Agreement 
 
KC Education Services – An education contribution is required in this case. 
The required amount is £160,349 
 
Environment Agency – No objections subject to conditions 
 
Yorkshire Water Authority – No objections subject to conditions. 
(Warn that the illustrative layout conflicts with some of the sewer alignments 
on the site. NB This application is for access only; layout will have to be 
considered as a reserved matter.) 
 
Coal Authority – the site has been identified as having been subject to 
previous mining activity, as such this is a Material Consideration. Raise no 
objection subject to the imposition of conditions 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer – No adverse comments to the granting 
of permission. This is an outline application and a Reserved Matters 
application will be scrutinised when received. 
 
Health and Safety Executive – As the site is within the middle zone of the 
Syngenta Hazardous Substance Installation, advise against the development 
on health and safety grounds. 
 

Page 65



 
 
 

52

Note: Should the Council seek to approve this application, it will need to be 
referred to the Health and Safety Executive to see if they wish to call the 
application in.  
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
  
The application has been publicised by site notices and neighbour letters. 84 
letters of objection have been received together with a petition of 130 
signatures. The main points of concern being: 
 

1. The site is allocated a Provisional Open Land on the Unitary 
Development Plan, and therefore the proposal is contrary to policy D5 

2. There are other brownfield sites within the area that are owned by the 
applicant that should be brought forward before any green field sites 
are developed. This is in accordance with the guidance contained in 
the NPPF, which recommends the recycling of brown field sites in 
advance of green field. 

3. The local infrastructure is unable to cope with any additional 
development. The local schools are oversubscribed and there are 
difficulties obtaining doctors and dentist appointments.  

4. The application fails to make any provision for affordable housing, 
which is contrary to Council policy H10 and SPD 2 which requires 30% 
provision on a greenfield site. 

5. There are on site problems regarding drainage, and underground coal 
deposits. 

6. The site is an important area for wildlife, containing bat colonies, and 
great crested newts. The development of this site would be harmful to 
these habitats. 

7. The development of the site would result in an adverse effect on the 
appearance and distinctive character of the village, and be contrary to 
Policy BE1of the Unitary Development Plan. 

8. The development of the site would result in adverse effect on the 
residential amenities of the adjoining properties, including loss of 
privacy and nuisance 

9. Concerns at the access arrangements. The proposed access is 
unacceptable, and he level of traffic using the access off Cockley Hill 
Lane is excessive, and will result in traffic hazard. There have been a 
number of accidents in the last few years close to this proposed access 
point. 

10. The surrounding road network in full to capacity already, and the 
additional development, together with neighbouring sites that are also 
the subject of applications, is not sustainable in traffic terms and will 
result in extra congestion and traffic delays. 

11. The density proposed ie 60 units is excessive and does not accord with 
the level of development deemed to be acceptable by the Health and 
Safety Executive.  

 

Page 66



 
 
 

53

YETTON Together: 
 
YT has produced a community plan following public consultation with the 
support of Rural Action Yorkshire and the Parish Council: 

1. The majority view of respondents (26% response rate) was that any 
new development should be biased towards starter homes / affordable 
housing, with little desire or identified need for any further executive 
housing. 

2. Concern was expressed about the 3 derelict brown field sites within the 
village especially Huddersfield Fine Worsteds and that these sites 
should be prioritised before any other development is considered. 

3. The proposed siting is particularly ill-considered. This is a site of 
considerable historic importance and cannot be replaced, or 
compensated for when considered from a viewing point on Cockley Hill 
Lane seating area. 

4. The proposed design and layout is out of character with Kirkheaton. 
5. There are flooding and drainage problems on this site. 
6. There is a large colony of great crested newts just 450m away. 
7. There would appear to be no concern shown for the important visual 

aspects of the tree line at the bottom of the site. 
 
As an alternative to this proposal YT would support the redevelopment of the 
Shop Lane site, and have raised no objections to the development of the 
Crossley Lane sites at the bottom of the village (both brownfield sites). 
 
Barry Sheerman MP: 
 
I am objecting to this application on behalf of several of my constituents as 
MP for Huddersfield. Where there are more suitable sites, i.e. brownfield 
development sites available to meet housing needs, these should be 
developed in the first instance. It is my understanding that the applicant 
actually owns a brownfield site close to the green field site. 
The site itself is former pasture land where cattle still graze on occasion. 
Additionally there are ground nesting birds and a colony of bats, whom inhabit 
the space. I hope that a full Environmental Impact survey will be sought in 
order that the extent of the sites bio diversity can be considered fully at such 
time as the scheme is brought to Committee. 
 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
General principle/Policy 
 
The application site is allocated as Provisional Open Land (POL) which is 
subject to Policy D5 of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP). 
 
Policy D5 states that “ planning permission will not be granted other than for 
development required in connection with established uses, changes of use to 
alternative open land uses or temporary uses which would not prejudice the 
contribution of the site to the character of its surroundings and the possibility 
of development in the longer term.” 

Page 67



 
 
 

54

 
The weight that can be attributed to policy D5 in determining applications 
needs to be assessed in the context of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 
In the context of paragraph 215 the wording is of policy D5 is consistent with 
NPPF paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to 
paragraph 49 the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply 
of deliverable housing sites. The weight that can be given to policy D5 in 
these circumstances was assessed in October 2010 by a planning inspector 
in his consideration of an appeal against the refusal of permission for housing 
on a POL site at Ashbourne Drive, Cleckheaton (Ref: 
APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353). 
 
The Inspector concluded that “The lack of a 5 year land supply, on its own, 
weighs in favour of the development. In combination with other paragraphs in 
the Framework concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack 
of a five year supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing 
land are out of date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it too is out of 
date and its weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the 
weight that can be given to the policy requirement that there be a review of 
the plan before the land can be released. In these cases the Frameworks 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.” 
 
The presumption referred to by the Inspector is set out in NPPF paragraph 14 
which states that where relevant policies are out of date, planning permission 
should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of granting the permission 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against this framework as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate 
development should be restricted”. 
 
(Footnote 9: lists examples of restrictive policies but this does not include 
policies concerning safeguard land.) 
  
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF indicates a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, and paragraph 49 of the NPPF indicates that housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, if the Council is unable to identify a 5 year supply 
of deliverable housing sites.  
 
The Council is currently unable to identify a 5 year supply of deliverable 
housing sites. 
 
Assessing the policies in the NPPF as a whole in accordance with the 
paragraph 14 test, the benefit of providing housing on this green field site is 
considered to outweigh the environmental harm arising from this 
development. 
 

Page 68



 
 
 

55

The development proposed will represent a significant housing offer for the 
village and it is also eligible for the consideration and provision of affordable 
housing. 
 
The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (‘SHMA’, October 2015) provides 
an analysis of the objective need for housing in Kirklees as required by the 
Government. The SHMA concludes that 1049 new affordable homes per year 
are required to 2031 and it has provided an assessment of the need for 
general needs and specialist housing. This site has relevance to the south 
Huddersfield and rural south east market areas and the scheme provides a 
broad mix for the commercial market. 
 
The local need is for larger (3+) bedroom homes and for smaller homes, 
which can help smaller households and older people; this older persons’ 
sector is forecast to grow by 44% by 2031.Consequently this development 
could provide an opportunity to secure an element of affordable rented/ 
intermediate housing.  
 
The development provides an opportunity to consider an affordable housing 
arrangement which could be developed at a specific point or phase in relation 
to the principal development site, and thus development could be structured 
to secure predicted cash-flow, delivery and partnering arrangements to 
minimise the impact on the principal development scheme. 
 
Viability 
 
This application has been submitted with a viability appraisal. In accordance 
with the Councils agreed procedure the appraisal has been independently 
assessed on behalf of the Council. 
 
For information given the size of the site and the number of dwellings 
envisaged, policy compliant Section 106 contributions would comprise: 

• Affordable Housing at 30% of gross floor space 

• Provision and maintenance of public open space as indicated on the 
illustrative layout in accordance with Policy H18; and 

• Education Contribution of £160,349  
 
The viability appraisal identifies significant abnormal costs associated with the 
development of the site, in particular the cost of addressing the coal mining 
legacy and remediation on site, such that the development could not support 
the provision of affordable housing and deliver an acceptable land value to the 
landowner. 
 
Notwithstanding, the applicant offered a contribution of £100,000 towards 
meeting the above policy requirements. 
 
The appraisal has been independently assessed and the Council has also 
sought further advice from the District Valuer (DV) in relation to the viability 
position. The DV concludes that the development can sustain contributions 
towards affordable housing, education, and POS. 

Page 69



 
 
 

56

 
Negotiations have been undertaken with the applicant and an amended offer 
has been made which is: 
 

• A 20% affordable housing provision. This equates to 12 units with a 
mix of  55% (7units) for social rent and 45% (5 units) for intermediate 
dwellings; 

• An Education contribution of  £160,349; 

• POS provision on site and a contribution of  £28,545 to improve 
existing off-site POS 

 
The DV has considered the amended offer and advises that it has improved 
significantly from the original position. Assuming a developer profit of 20% 
GDV the development can afford to deliver the new offer which has been 
justified through the development appraisal. 
 
As such acceptance of the amended /improved offer is recommended, with 
the contributions to be secured via a Section 106 agreement. 
 
Impact on amenity: 
 
The illustrative layout shows a development of 60 units on a site of 1.99ha, 
(i.e. a density of 30 dwellings per ha). This is considered to be an efficient use 
of the site and represents a density that is appropriate for this area and 
comparable with neighbouring developments. The indicative layout shows a 
mix of 3 and 4 bed dwellings, semi-detached, terrace and detached 
properties, between 2 and 2.5 storey in height. The mix of dwellings and the 
scale / height envisaged are considered to be satisfactory within this location.  
 
This application is in outline with layout, appearance, scale and landscaping 
reserved for subsequent consideration. However the indicative layout shows 
how a scheme which respects the residential amenity of neighbouring 
properties on Cockley Hill Lane and Town Road can be achieved, respecting 
the change in level across the site and delivering new frontage onto Cockley 
Hill Road. Indeed the levels of the site and the fact that that it slopes down 
from Cockley Hill Lane reduces any impact the dwellings would have on those 
properties. 
 
The area indicated as public open space incorporates the majority of the sites 
feature trees which are also covered by a Tree Preservation Order, this area 
is naturally overlooked by the adjoining dwellings. 
 
Highway issues: 
 
The application seeks outline permission for residential development of 60 
dwellings, formation of access, public space and associated infrastructure, at 
Cockley Hill Lane, Kirkheaton, with the access point the only matter for 
consideration at this stage while all other matters including internal layout, 
parking and servicing arrangements reserved. 
 

Page 70



 
 
 

57

Access 
 
Access to the site is proposed via a new priority junction from Cockley Hill 
Lane.  Drawing 702A/01 prepared by PAH Highway Consultants shows a 
proposed access road of 5.5m width and 2.0m footways at either flank of the 
site access with the one at the southern flank extending to the site frontage in 
a southeasterly direction thereby providing a footway at Cockley Hill Lane, 
whilst that to the north links into the existing footway at Cockley Hill Lane. 
Cockley Hill Lane is indicated on the drawing to have a carrigeway width of 
circa 7m. 
 
Drawing 702A/01 indicates that visibility splays of 2.4m x 48.5m and 2.4m x 
46.6m in the northwest and southeast direction at Cockley Hill Lane can be 
achieved.  These visibility splays are commensurate with 32.7mph and 
31.8mph speeds that were recorded during the traffic survey.  In addition, 
drawing 702A/01 indicates that the finished gradient for the initial 10 m  is 1 in 
20, followed by a 1 in 8 gradient over approximately 25m which includes 
vertical curves.   
 
Junction spacing between Cockley Meadows and the proposed site access is 
circa 20m.  Highways Development Management (HDM) considers that 
junction spacing is dependent on the number of crossing movements between 
the two minor arms at a stagger junction, the distance required for vehicles to 
be positioned for turning movements and the restriction of through traffic 
among others.   
 
It is unlikely that there will be cross movements between Cockley Meadows 
and the proposed site access and in addition Cockley Hill Lane has low traffic 
volumes.  On this basis the proposed junction spacing is not considered to 
result in highway safety concerns. 
 
The site access junction geometry and visibility splays accords with current 
guidance and is considered acceptable. 
 
Traffic generation 
 
Assessment using the industry standard TRICS database indicates that the 
development is forecast to generate around 49 and 54 two-way vehicle 
movements respectively in the AM peak and PM peak periods. 
 
The two-way vehicle flows along Cockley Hill Lane are circa 170 and 200 two-
way vehicles during the AM peak and PM peak hours respectively.  
Forecast arrivals and departures associated with the proposed development 
are set out in Table 1 below. 
 

Page 71



 
 
 

58

Table 1: Peak Hour Vehicle Trips  
 

Total 

Weekday AM Peak Weekday PM Peak 

Arrivals Departures Arrivals Departures 

15 34 33 21 

49 54 

 
HDM considers that this level of traffic generation can be accommodated on 
the local highway network. 
 
Cumulative Impact 
 
An assessment of the potential cumulative effect of this development plus 
neighbouring proposals and existing commitments, on the distribution of traffic 
and the capacity of the local highway network was requested by HDM, 
supplement this application. 
 
In addition to this application 2 other sites have been considered including 
development already recommended for approval on Crossley Lane 
(2015/90430) , and  a current application on Shop Lane, Kirkheaton 
(2014/92535) 
 
This further analyses carried out in preparing this Technical Note   
demonstrate that the anticipated increase in the level of traffic generated by 
any one of the three developments would not be discernible from the daily 
fluctuations in flows that could be expected on the strategic highway network. 
The same can be said of the cumulative impact of all three developments.  
Therefore the level of traffic generated by all three proposals can be 
accommodated and will have no material impact on the safe operation of the 
local highway and will not significantly add to any congestion at the peak 
times on the local network.  
 
Accessibility 
 
Bus 
The nearest bus stop is located approximately 200m away from the site at 
Cockley Hill Lane.   The bus stop is served by bus service 262, providing a 
combined two-way weekday frequency of circa 8 buses per hour in the 
daytime operating between Huddersfield, Kirkheaton, Upper Heaton and 
Dewsbury. 
 
To encourage the use of public transport the developer will be required to 
implement a Residential Metro Card Scheme, the funding for which shall be 
secured via a Section 106 Agreement.  
 

Page 72



 
 
 

59

Pedestrians 
 
The proposals include extension of a 2.0m footway at the site frontage along 
Cockley Hill Lane.  There are footways along Cockley Hill Lane and Town 
Road to enable pedestrians’ access to local facilities. 
 
Accidents 
 
A review of the recorded accidents shows that there have been two recorded 
accidents in the site vicinity within the last five years, which resulted in slight 
injuries. The recorded accidents did not occur as a result of the road geometry 
but were due to driver behaviour.  
 
Drainage Issues 
 
The site is located within Flood Zone 1 (i.e. the area least likely to flood). As 
the site area is in excess of 1Ha a Flood Risk Assessment has been 
undertaken.  
The Environment Agency has accepted the conclusions of the FRA and 
recommends conditions which would restrict site run off to the green field rate 
(i.e. 5l/s). 
 
This is a green field site and as such the option of SUDS drainage systems 
should be explored. However there are some areas of the site that attract 
standing water, therefore some attenuation within the site to achieve the 5/ls 
run off rate may be required. These details are proposed to be covered by 
appropriate conditions. 
 
Bio Diversity 
 
The application is accompanied by an Ecological Survey. Further survey work 
has been undertaken within the March–June period as requested. 
 
The site consists of pasture with some mature trees to the perimeter of the 
site. The trees are clearly of ecological value as well as amenity value and 
these are shown to be retained. In addition a landscaping scheme and bio 
diversity enhancement (i.e. provision of bat tubes and bird boxes).will be 
required by condition as part of any permission. 
 
It is considered that there are significant opportunities to deliver bio diversity 
enhancement on this site in accordance with the guidance contained in 
paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Environment Issues (Contamination, remediation, Noise and Air Quality) 
 
The site is capable of being satisfactorily remediated and made fit to receive 
new residential development, conditions are recommended.  
 
The site is surrounded by existing residential properties. It is considered that 
new residential development will not give rise to significant noise or 

Page 73



 
 
 

60

disturbance to existing residents to justify refusal, nor is there considered to 
be any need for noise attenuation.  
 
The site is not within an area which experiences problems with air quality, 
however in accordance with the guidance contained in paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF a condition is recommended requiring the provision of electric charging 
points to new dwellings to serve electric cars or other low emission vehicles. 
 
Crime Prevention 
 
The application is in outline and is supported by an indicative layout to show 
how the site may be developed. The detailed layout will be considered at 
reserved matters stage, however the area identified for POS within the 
indicative layout is considered to be logical, with the benefit of natural 
surveillance. Connectivity from within the site to existing footpaths will need to 
be considered at reserved matters stage, but there is no reason to raise any 
objection to the principle of residential development from a crime prevention 
perspective. 
 
Representations 
 
A large number of representations and a petition have been received with a 
number of common themes expressed. The detail of representations and 
Officer responses are detailed below: 
 
This is a greenfield site; development would be contrary to Policy D5 of the 
UDP. Also there are are brownfield sites within the vicinity that should be 
developed in advance of this and other greenfield sites. 
The Council is currently unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable 
housing sites and as such in accordance with par 49 of the NPPF the 
Councils Housing policies in the UDP are considered to be out of date. This 
matter has been tested at appeal twice and on both occasions the appeals 
were allowed. It is not reasonable for the Council to refuse permission for the 
principle of residential development on POL sites or on the grounds that 
brownfield sites should be brought forwards first.  
 
(NB: The neighbouring brown field site - the former Huddersfield Fine 
Worsteds on Shop Lane is on this same agenda, recommended for approval. 
Neighbouring brownfield sites have also been granted planning permission. 
 
The local infrastructure is unable to cope with the additional houses i.e. the 
schools are full to capacity as are local doctors surgeries. 
The application makes provision for a financial contribution towards education 
that accord with the Councils policy for education provision. The delivery of 
health/ dental facilities is not a material planning consideration for the 
Planning Authority, being the remit of the Local Health Authority. 
 
The local road network is unable to accommodate the extra traffic, this will 
lead to congestion, traffic problems and potentially hazard. The scheme 
proposes a dangerous access. 

Page 74



 
 
 

61

The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment together 
with supplementary information covering the cumulative impact of 
development. The surrounding road network is considered capable of 
accommodating the proposed development and neighbouring developments. 
The proposed access off Cockley Hill Lane is acceptable and conditions are 
recommended. 
 
The site is a haven for wildlife and the information provided in the ecological 
report is substandard. 
An updated ecological report has been provided and assessed by the 
Councils biodiversity Officer, who accepts its conclusions. The area of the site 
of most value and potential is the area at the bottom of the site surrounded by 
the protected trees. This area is identified as potential open space. The 
remainder of the site is improved agricultural land of little ecological value.   
 
The bottom end of the site is marshy; any development of this greenfield site 
will lead to run off increasing and causing surface water flooding issues 
downstream. 
The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment. The 
Environment Agency and Yorkshire Water have raised no objection subject to 
conditions. The Environment Agency conditions seek to limit the run off from 
the site to existing greenfield rates. It is accepted that drainage conditions are 
necessary and that these will need to be satisfactorily discharged.  
 
There are a number of specific objections relating to matters of design, loss of 
privacy, provision of affordable housing provision (detailed in the 
representations section above) that have been considered as part of the 
assessment.   
 
Conclusion 
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land on the UDP, and a such is 
subject to Policy D5, which presumes against the development of POL land    
(other than for other open land uses) for the lifetime of UDP.  However given 
that the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5year supply of deliverable 
housing sites, the UDP housing polices, including D5 are consider to be out of 
date. In this context paragraph 49of the NPPF states that housing applications 
should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. This site is considered to be in a sustainable 
location, and as such there is no objection to releasing it for housing at this 
time. 
 
The access is considered to be satisfactory and the surrounding road network 
can accommodate the additional development. Issues such as drainage and 
remediation are capable of being dealt with by conditions. 
 
The application was accompanied by a viability appraisal which has been 
independently assessed. Through negotiation an affordable housing offer of 
20% of the number of units with full contributions towards POS (on and off 

Page 75



 
 
 

62

site) and Education has been secured. These offers are considered 
acceptable and will be secured via a Section 106 agreement. 
 
It is therefore recommended that outline planning permission be granted 
subject to the delegation of authority to Officers to address the matters set out 
below. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO 
DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 
 
1. REFER THE APPLICATION TO THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 

EXECUTIVE UNDER SECTION 9 OF THE PLANNING PRACTICE 
GUIDANCE NOTE. SHOULD THE HEALTH AND SAFETY EXECUTIVE 
NOT INTERVENE THEN: 

 
2. SECURE A SECTION 106 OBLIGATION TO DELIVER: 

• THE PROVISION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
• AN EDUCATION CONTRIBUTION  
• POS ON SITE AND A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION TO IMPROVE 

OFF SITE POS 
  

3. IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS WHICH 
MAY INCLUDE THOSE BELOW; AND 

 
4. SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO CHANGES WHICH MATERIALLY 

AFFECT THIS RECOMMENDATION ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 
 
Conditions 
 
1. Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance and the 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be 
obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development 
is commenced. 
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the layout, scale and the landscaping of the site, shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or, in the 

Page 76



 
 
 

63

case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved. 
 
5. Development shall not commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 
 
6. Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 5, development shall not 
commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 
 
7. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 6. In the event 
that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local planning authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 
 
8. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the local planning authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, no part of the site 
shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for the 
whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
9. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing the layout, 
construction and specification of the highway works; at the site access 
junction with Cockley Hill Lane (with reference to drawing no. 702A/01) and all 
associated highway works, and the appropriate Road Safety Audit, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be brought into use until all the works under the 
approved scheme have been carried out and completed in accordance with 
the approved scheme and thereafter retained throughout the lifetime of the 
development.  

 . 
10. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays of 
2.4m x 48.5m and 2.4m x 46.6m in the northwest and southeast direction at 

Page 77



 
 
 

64

Cockley Hill Lane at the site access junction in which there shall be no 
obstruction to visibility above the level of the adjacent footway as indicated on 
the approved plan have been completed. Thereafter, the visibility splays shall 
be retained throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
11. Prior to construction commencing, a schedule of the means of access to 
the site for construction traffic shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include the point of access 
for construction traffic, details of the times of use of the access, the routing of 
construction traffic to and from the site, construction workers parking facilities 
and the provision, use and retention of adequate wheel washing facilities 
within the site. Thereafter all construction arrangements shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved schedule throughout the period of construction. 
 
12. The development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects 
of 1 in 100 years storm events, with an additional allowance for climate 
change, upon drainage infrastructure and surface water run off pre and post 
development between the development and the surrounding area in all 
directions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. No part of the development shall be brought into use until the works 
comprising the approved scheme have been completed and the approved 
scheme shall be retained throughout the lifetime of the development. 
  
13. Notwithstanding the submitted detail, no development shall commence 
until details of the on-site surface water attenuation have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the 
development shall be brought into use until the works comprising the 
approved scheme have been completed and such approved scheme shall be 
retained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the scheme. 
 
14. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, no 
building or other obstruction shall be located over or within 3 metres either 
side of the centre line of the sewer (i.e. a total protected strip width of 6 
metres that crosses the site). 
  
15. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site. 
  
16. No piped discharge of surface water from the application site shall take 
place until works to provide a satisfactory outfall for surface water have been 
completed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority before development commences  
  
17. No development shall take place until details of the proposed means of 
disposal of foul and surface water drainage, including details of any balancing 
works and off -site works, have been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. Furthermore, no buildings shall be occupied or brought into 
use prior to completion of the approved foul drainage works. 
  

Page 78



 
 
 

65

 18. Prior to the commencement of development, details of a bio-diversity 
habitat enhancement scheme shall be submitted for the written approval of 
the LPA. The scheme shall include details and potential locations for bat / bird 
roost opportunities within the new development and surrounding retained 
trees. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation 
of any dwellings / plots containing such opportunities.  
 
19. Prior to occupation of any dwellings, electric vehicle recharging points 
shall be installed for each dwelling with a garage and / or 1 point for every 10 
dwellings with communal car parking in accordance with a specification which 
shall first have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the LPA.  
 
This recommendation is based on the following plans and specification 
schedule:- 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 
  Location Plan P12.4618.02  15/9/14 
 Block layout plan P12.4618.01  15/9/14 
 Site features including 
salient geological 
features 

 C15120/02  15/9/14 

 Preliminary conceptual 
model 

C15120/03  15/9/14 

 Design and Access 
Statement 

  15/9/14 

 Tree/ Arboricultural 
Survey 

10961/AJB  15/9/14 

Ecological Appraisal 
(update) 

 R-1481-02.1  July 2015 

Phase 1(Desk Top) 
Survey 

C5120  15/9/14 

Flood Risk Assessment E13/5770/FRA.001  15/9/14 

Transport Assessment  702/June 2014  15/9/14 
Supplementary 
Transport information  

702 B August 2015 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 
 
 

66

Application No: 2014/92535 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 48 dwellings, formation of 
access and associated infrastructure 

Location: Shop Lane, Kirkheaton, Huddersfield, HD5 0DB 

 
Grid Ref: 418024.0 417856.0  

Ward: Dalton Ward 

Applicant: Paul Cryan, Hartley Property Trust Ltd 

Agent: Laura Mepham, John R Paley Associates 

Target Date: 26-Nov-2014 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

15

46

Kirkheaton

22

2

Da w Kn o wl e

52

Th e  Co t ta g e

3

4

52a

10

8

9

Co t ta g e s

1

7

4

2

8

1

3

16

Gre e n wo o d

6

5

5

6

Pro s p e c t

Bu i l d i n g s

Odd
fe

llo
ws 

Vill
as 4

1

4
1

2

7

42

4
3

PENRYN AVENUE

1
9

2
1

17

15

1 0 9 .1 m

6

8

17

7

NEW
 S

TR
EET6

19

10
Kirb

y R
ow

10a

D
oc

to
rs

 R
ow

1

5
3Tr

ou
gh

Sh e l te r

8

5

6

2

1

3

8

KNOWLE R
OAD

6

28

5

1
1

2
4

1

1
3
a

18

16

1

Ea s t  Gro v e

S
H

O
P
 LA

N
E

3

22a

14

18

20

2

Pe rro n v i l l e

2
a

1
2

8

9 3 .6 m

Ra lm a r

3
4 9

4
0

3

5

117.
0m

3
0

2
8
a

1

1

4
2

Path (um)

PH

4
8

2
3
a

7

2

1

W a te r

L
O

W
 F

O
L

D

7

8

6

3
5

L o w Fo l d

6
2

Sq u a re

1
0

Hi l l4

T
ra

c
k 21

75

12

19

19a

W o rk s

4
9

5
1

32

43

17

19

1

8

2

56

10

El  Su b  Sta

12

53

65

43

42

9

BANKFIE
LD L

ANE

2

Fi e l d  He a d

23

1
0

Ho l l y  Ba n k

37

1

31

2
8

a

30

2
2

23

25

1 1 4 .0 m

1

35 39
37

15

BA
N
K
FIELD

 A
VE

N
U
E

28

14

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – For identification purposes only 
 
 

Page 80



 
 
 

67

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Grant conditional outline planning permission subject to delegation of 
authority to Officers to:  
 

i. Referral of the application to the Health and Safety Executive 
under Section 9 of the Planning and Practice Guidance Notes. 
Should the Health and Safety Executive not intervene then; 

 
ii. Secure a S106 obligation to provide: 

Application Details  
Type of Development Residential 
Scale of Development 1.76ha  48 dwellings 

No. Jobs Created or Retained  N/a  
Policy  

UDP allocation Unallocated 
Independent viability 
assessment required 

Yes  

Representation/Consultation  
Individual Support (No.) Nil 
Individual Objection (No.)    
Petition No       

Ward Member Interest No   
Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

None   

Contributions  

• Affordable Housing 10 units (20% of number of units as starter homes) 

• Education £113,891 

• Public Open Space POS on site and £129,950 contribution to improve off 
site POS 

• Other Resident METRO cards £22,000 
Bus stop improvements and real time information 
£30,000 

Other Issues    
Any Council Interest? No   
Planning Pre-application 
advice? 

Yes   

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

Yes   

Comment on Application 
 
 

The application seeks to deliver housing on a vacant 
brown field site. The site was last used for employment, 
but has been cleared for a number of years. It is 
considered that the site would not be suitable for re use 
for employment and as such an alternative residential 
use is acceptable in principle  

Page 81



 
 
 

68

• Affordable Housing of 10 starter homes 

• An Education contribution of £113,891 
• POS on site and a financial contribution of £129,950 to 

improve off site POS 

• Resident Metro cards and bus stop improvements 
 

iii. Impose appropriate conditions which may include those detailed 
below; and 
 

iv. Subject to there being no material change in circumstances, to 
issue the decision 

 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought to Strategic Planning Committee with the 
agreement of the Director of Place and the Chair of the Committee in 
accordance with the Councils agreed scheme of delegated authority. 
  
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
The site comprises two parcels of land which total 1.76 ha in area.  
 
The larger parcel of land is located on the western side of Shop Lane and was 
formerly occupied by the Huddersfield Fine Worsteds (HFW) factory. The 
factory buildings have been demolished and the site is currently fenced off 
and in a neglected state. The only building that remains is the lodge house 
(no 2(a) Shop Lane), located in the southern part of the site. The site is 
flanked on all sides by dwellings, including properties on Doctors Row, Shop 
Lane, Bankfield Lane and St Pauls Lane. The site slopes steeply upwards 
from Shop Lane towards Bankfield Lane. There is a public right of way that 
adjoins the site on the western boundary. 
 
The smaller of the two sites is located on the eastern side of Shop Lane with 
frontage onto Orchard Road, adjacent a bus stop. The site also backs onto 
Daw Knowle. This site was used unofficially as parking for the HFW factory 
and contains some areas of hard standing as well as a number of mature 
trees that are protected by a Tree Preservation Order. There is a public 
footpath which runs adjacent to this site along its northern boundary. This site 
is relatively flat.  
 
Both sites are considered to be brownfield previously developed land and are 
unallocated on the Kirklees Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Also both sites fall within the middle zone of the Syngenta Hazardous 
Substances Installation. 
 

Page 82



 
 
 

69

Proposal 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for residential development with access 
applied for. An indicative layout has been provided illustrating how a total of 
48 dwellings could be accommodated across the two sites. 
 
On the larger site, access is taken off Shop Lane, in the same location as that 
which used to serve the HFW factory. The indicative layout shows a mix of 
dwellings, semi and detached properties, all 2 no storeys in height. A total of 
42 dwellings are indicated on this site, which includes a traditional estate road 
arrangement within the site, as well as two terraces fronting onto Shop Lane. 
At the northern end of the site is an area of open space with a footpath link to 
Bankfield Lane. 
 
On the smaller parcel of land the proposed access is taken off Orchard Road 
and the layout shows 6 no dwellings; terraced, semi-detached and detached 
served off a private drive. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
 2014/91831: Outline application for the erection of 60 dwellings with access 
and associated infra structure- Land off Cockley Hill Lane, Kirkheaton (this is 
a site allocated as Provisional Open Land). 

- Application still to be determined and is on this agenda. 
 
2015/90430: Outline application for residential development (indicative layout 
126 dwellings) Land to the North and South of Crossley Lane, Dalton. 

- Outline planning permission granted  
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D2 – Unallocated land 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE12 – Space about buildings 
BE23 – Crime prevention 
G6 – Land contamination 
 H10 – Affordable housing 
H18 – Provision of open space 
B4 – Change of use of land and buildings last used for business or industry 
T10 – Highway safety 
T19 – Parking standards 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Part 4. Promoting sustainable transport 
Part 6. Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Part 7. Requiring good design 

Page 83



 
 
 

70

Part 8. Promoting healthy communities 
Part 10. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Part 11. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
 
Other Policy Considerations 
 
SPD 2 Affordable Housing 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance Practice Notes 
 
KMC Policy Guidance “Providing for education needs generate from new 
development”. 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
KC Highways - No objections in principle, recommend conditions in the event 
of an approval 
 
KC Environmental Health - Recommend conditions 
 
KC Trees - On the smaller site, siting and road surface materials will need 
careful consideration at reserved matters stage. No objections on the larger 
site. 
 
KC Ecology - An amended Ecological Report was received and this identified 
little of any merit on the site. The conclusions are accepted and the 
opportunity for bio diversity enhancement should be taken, and this is covered 
by condition. 
 
KC Strategic Housing - There is a demonstrable need for affordable housing 
in this area. As a brown field site an affordable housing provision at 15% of 
gross floor area should be sought. 
 
KC Recreation and Parks - An off-site payment in lieu of the balance of POS 
that would be required on site is acceptable in this case. The required 
payment is £129,950 
 
KC Education Services- An education contribution is appropriate in this 
case. The required amount is £113,891. 
 
KC Strategic Drainage - This is a brownfield site in a heavily built up area. 
As such there would need to be a reduction in the surface water run off rate (a 
minimum of 30% betterment is usually required). Given its location any future 
drainage scheme will need to be adequately informed by a comprehensive 
survey of existing drainage systems within and surrounding the site to ensure 
the site does not result in problems further down-stream. These matters are 
covered by condition. 
 

Page 84



 
 
 

71

Environment Agency - Originally objected to the application, but has since 
withdrawn their objection based upon a revised flood risk assessment. 
Recommend conditions if approved 
 
Yorkshire Water Authority - Recommend conditions should permission be 
granted 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer - No comments that would adversely 
affect this permission. This is an outline application so more detailed 
comments will be made on any subsequent Reserved Matters application. 
The position of the 2 footpaths adjacent the sites are important and strong 
robust boundary treatments will be needed along the boundaries. 
 
Health and Safety Executive - As the site is within the middle zone of 
Syngenta (a hazardous substances installation) advise against the application 
on grounds of health and safety. 
 
Note: Should the Council seek to approve the application, then in accordance 
with section 9 of the Planning Practice Guidance Notes, the application would 
need to be referred to the Health and Safety Executive to consider whether to 
call the application in. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been publicised by site notice and neighbour letters. 
To date there have been 10 letters of objection the main points of concern 
being: 
 
1. Shop Lane is a very busy road with inadequate parking and footpaths. This 
scheme will add to existing traffic problems in the area. This scheme will 
make the roads in the village a “nightmare” for local residents. 
2. The village cannot cope with any additional housing .The local 
infrastructure cannot cope with local schools being oversubscribed and 
doctors surgeries and dentists not being able to take extra patients. 
3. Some detailed comments are given regarding Doctors Row having parking 
and access rights to the rear of those properties which must be respected. 
Properties on Shop Lane claim hanging rights. 
4. There are houses in close proximity to this development that will suffer 
severe disruption and nuisance should the development go ahead. 
5. The application should provide for a one way road between Shop Lane and 
Bankfield Lane, with appropriate parking controls/ provisions. 
6. Village parking and road safety should have first priority. 
 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
General Principle/Policy 
 
This site was last used for employment purposes (formerly occupied by 
Huddersfield Fine Worsteds). Buildings within the site have been demolished 

Page 85



 
 
 

72

and the site is now a vacant brownfield site, centrally located within the village 
of Kirkheaton. 
 
As the site was last used for employment purposes the development 
proposed needs to be considered in accordance with guidance contained in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and Policy B4 of the Unitary 
Development Plan. 
 
Paragraphs 14 and 17 of the NPPF indicate a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, and support economic development to meet the 
demands of both new business and new homes. 
 
Paragraph 22 of the NPPF indicates that Local Planning Authorities should 
avoid the long term protection of sites where there is no reasonable prospect 
of the site being reused for that purpose. Also paragraph 51 indicates a 
presumption in favour of change of use from business to residential where 
there is no strong economic argument to retain the site for employment 
purposes. 
 
The former factory was demolished a number of years ago and the site is now 
cleared and fenced off. The applicant has submitted a policy B4 statement 
which indicates the difficulties associated with bringing this site back into 
employment use, for example, the proximity to residential properties, limited 
room for expansion, a historic difficulty with deliveries and despatches to and 
from the site given the nature of the surrounding road network, together with 
the very steep topography. It is therefore accepted there is sufficient evidence 
to demonstrate that this site is unlikely to be reused for employment purposes. 
 
As such it is appropriate to consider alternative uses for the site. Given the 
thrust of national policy outlined above residential use would be an 
appropriate alternative use in this location. 
 
Paragraph 49 of the NPPF should be considered in the context of a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and that the Local 
Planning Authority should have a 5 year supply of deliverable housing sites.  
At this time the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply.  
 
In addition to the recycling of brownfield land, this site is within the Kirkheaton 
settlement area, in close proximity to services and public transport routes, and 
is considered to be a sustainable location. 
 
Given the size of the site and the number of units involved the following 
policies are relevant: 
 
Policy H10 Affordable Housing; 
Policy H18 Provision of Public Open Space: and  
The Councils policy for meeting education need 
 

Page 86



 
 
 

73

Viability 
 
The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal with the application and in 
accordance with the Councils agreed procedure the appraisal has been 
independently assessed. The independent assessment in this case has been 
undertaken by the District Valuer. 
 
For information, on this site, given the numbers of units envisaged a policy 
compliant Section 106 Agreement would comprise: 

• Affordable Housing at 15% of gross floor area of housing (as a 
brownfield site). 

• Public Open Space provision on site, together with a contribution of 
£129,950 to improve existing open space off site. 

• An Education contribution of £113,891. 
 
The viability appraisal identifies significant abnormal costs associated with the 
development of the site, in particular the cost of remediation, drainage 
infrastructure and retaining structures within the site such that the 
development could not support any level of affordable housing and deliver an 
acceptable land value to the landowner. A financial contribution of £200,000 
was offered towards all 106 contributions. 
 
The Council has sought advice from the District Valuer (DV) in relation to the 
viability position. The DV concludes that the development can sustain 
contributions towards the provision of affordable housing, POS and 
Education. 
 
Negotiations have taken place with the developer and an amended offer is 
tabled for consideration: 
 

• 10 affordable dwellings (20% of number of units as starter homes); 

• Education contribution £113,891; 

• POS on site and  a financial  contribution of £129,950 to improve off 
site POS 

• Resident METRO cards and bus stop enhancements to deliver improve 
shelters with real time information. These contributions would total 
£52,000. 

 
The amended offer has been considered by the DV. The DV advises that with 
a developer profit of 20% GDV the improved offer has been justified through 
the appraisal. 
 
As a brownfield site the policy requirement for affordable housing is 15% of 
floor area which would deliver no more than 5/6 dwellings with a tenure split 
between intermediate and social rented. The offer of 10 starter homes is 
considered a positive contribution and in line with emerging national policy.    
  

Page 87



 
 
 

74

Impact on Amenity 
 
The application site comprises two areas of land to either side of Shop Lane.  
The larger area to the northern side of Shop Lane is a cleared brown field site 
which accommodated the former Huddersfield Fine Worsteds factory. The 
surrounding area is predominantly residential with some commercial use to 
the NE corner of the site. 
 
The smaller area to the south of Shop Lane was an associated car park with 
areas of hardstanding. There are also some mature trees on this site. This 
area of land is abutted by housing on three sides with green belt to the east.  
 
It is considered that residential development of the two sites is consistent and 
compatible with the surrounding area. The sites are currently vacant and 
fenced off and their redevelopment would provide a significant visual 
enhancement for this part of Kirkheaton 
 
Together the two sites comprise an area of 1.76 ha and whilst the layout is 
indicative, it shows how a total of 48 no dwellings could be accommodated 
with a density of just over 27 per ha. This is not considered to be an excessive 
density and the nature of the sites (particularly the steepness and the 
presence of large step half way across the larger site) make these difficult 
sites to develop and accordingly the density is considered to be an efficient 
use of the land.   
 
Highway Issues: 
 
The application is for a residential development comprising 48 dwellings and 
formation of access and associated infrastructure at Shop Lane, Kirkheaton.  
The site layout is shown in drawing number P09:4266.01 Rev A, which was 
prepared by JRP Associates. For the avoidance of doubt the only matter for 
consideration is the access points from Shop Lane and from Orchard Road, 
with all other elements within the site to be considered at reserved matters 
stage which includes the internal road layout. Therefore, drawing number 
P09:4266.01Rev A prepared by JRP Associates is considered as an 
indicative layout. 
  
Access 
 
Drawing number P09:4266.01 Rev A shows the proposed access 
arrangements. Forty two dwellings would be served off Shop Lane via a new 
priority junction, while six dwellings would be served via a new access off 
Orchard Road.   
 
Access off Shop Lane 
The proposed site access is 5.5 m wide with a 2 m wide footway at either 
flank. The junction radii should be reduced from 10m to 6m. Visibility splays of 
2.4m x 43m (commensurate for 30mph speed limit) should be indicated on the 
site layout plan. Swept path analysis for all manoeuvres of an 11.6m long 

Page 88



 
 
 

75

refuse vehicle at the site access junction with Shop Lane should be shown on 
the site layout plan.   
 
Access off Orchard Lane 
The proposed site access is 5.5m wide with a 2m wide footway at either flank.  
The proposed new site access junction is approximately 20m east of Shop 
Lane/Orchard Road junction. The approach speed of vehicles along Orchard 
Road is likely to be lower than the link speed and therefore visibility splay 
requirements at the site access junction with Orchard Road are likely to be 
less than for 30 mph speed limit. 
 
In the absence of observed vehicle speeds along Orchard Road, a visibility 
splay of 2.4m x 43m (commensurate for 30mph speed limit) should be 
indicated on the site layout plan to the left of the site access along Orchard 
Road  and to the right as far as is possible given the close proximity to the 
Shop Lane/Orchard Road junction. Swept path analysis for all manoeuvres of 
an 11.6m long refuse vehicles at the site access junction with Orchard Road 
should be shown on the site layout plan.   
 
The junction geometry and visibility splays accords with current guidance and 
is considered acceptable. 
 
Traffic generation 
 
Assessment using the industry standard TRICS database indicates that the 
development is forecast to generate around 27 and 30 two-way vehicle 
movements respectively in the morning and evening peak periods. 
 
The two-way vehicle flows along Shop Lane are circa xxx two-way vehicles 
during the peak hours.  
 
Forecast arrivals and departures are set out in Table 1:  
 
Table 1: Peak Hour Vehicle Trips  
 

Total 

Weekday AM Peak Weekday PM Peak  
Arrivals Departures Arrivals Departures 

7 20 19 11 
27 30 

 
 Cumulative Impact 
 
An assessment of the potential cumulative effect of this development plus 
neighbouring proposals and existing commitments, on the distribution of traffic 
and the capacity of the local highway network was requested by HDM, 
supplement this application. 
 
In addition to this application 2 other sites have been considered including 
development already recommended for approval on Crossley Lane 
(2015/90430) and  a current application on Cockley Hill Lane (2014/91831) 

Page 89



 
 
 

76

 
This further analyses carried out in preparing this Technical Note   
demonstrate that the anticipated increase in the level of traffic generated by 
any one of the three developments would not be discernible from the daily 
fluctuations in flows that could be expected on the strategic highway network. 
The same can be said of the cumulative impact of all three developments.  
Therefore the level of traffic generated by all three proposals can be 
accommodated and will have no material impact on the safe operation of the 
local highway and will not significantly add to any congestion at the peak 
times on the local network.  
 
Accessibility 
 
Bus 
 
The nearest bus stops are located within the recommended distance from the 
proposed site access at Shop Lane. The bus stops are served by bus 
services 262 and 371, providing a combined two-way weekday frequency of 
circa 5 buses per hour in the daytime. 
 
To encourage the use of public transport the developer will be required to 
implement some bus improvements and in addition implement a Residential 
Metro Card Scheme, the funding for which shall be secured via a Section 106 
Agreement.  
 
Pedestrians 
 
The Public Rights of Way officer notes that Public footpath Kirkburton 8 is not 
shown in the application and in addition, concerns have been raised about the 
condition of walls on the southern boundary of the site adjacent to public 
footpath Kirkburton 255, with stone falling onto the path.  Offsite highway 
improvements (PROW) may be requested at a later stage of the planning 
process. 
 
Parking 
 
Parking provision within the site layout accords to Kirklees Council’s parking 
standards. 
 
Accidents 
 
A review of the recorded accidents shows that there have been three 
recorded accidents in the site vicinity within the last five years, which resulted 
in slight injuries.  The recorded accidents did not happen as a result of the 
road geometry but were due to driver behaviour.  
 
Flood Risk and Drainage  
 
This site is within Flood Zone 1 i.e. the area least likely to flood. However 
given the size of the site a Flood Risk Assesment has been submitted to 

Page 90



 
 
 

77

consider the issue of surface water run-off and the potential impact 
downstream. The FRA was amended and updated in line with requirements 
from the Environment Agency who have now withdrawn their objection to the 
scheme, recommending the imposition of conditions should approval be 
forthcoming. Yorkshire Water also recommended conditions. 
 
The site was formerly occupied by Huddersfield Fine Worsteds (a substantial 
textiles factory) and has now been largely cleared and fenced off. As is to be 
expected on such a site, the predominant area is hard standing or similar, with 
any trees or green areas being to the periphery of the site. The site is steeply 
sloping, and there is a natural “step” approx. half way down the site, as such 
the potential for surface water run-off to impact downstream needs to be 
considered. Any detailed scheme or discharge of conditions application on 
this site will need to demonstrate a significant reduction in site run off (usually 
a minimum of 30% betterment is aimed for).  
 
Any future drainage scheme will need to be adequately informed by a detailed 
survey of the existing drainage systems within and surrounding the site. This 
information would then enable the preparation of a drainage scheme with 
meaningful targets for storage, capacity and targeted run off rates to not only 
deliver satisfactory drainage for this site, but prevent problems further down-
stream. As this is an outline application these matters can be covered by 
condition. 
 
Biodiversity 
 
The application is accompanied by an Ecological Report which identifies that 
the bulk of the site comprises hardstanding with overgrown areas, little of 
which is of ecological value. There are some invasive species that would need 
to be eradicated prior to any development commencing.  
 
There is an area of standing water that is of no habitat value. The mature 
trees on the periphery of the larger site are of value and offer foraging 
opportunities for bats. The trees on the smaller site are of significant value 
and are protected by a Tree Preservation Order. The trees are shown to be 
retained on the indicative layout, supported by an Arboricutural Survey. 
 
There are only two remaining buildings on the site, i.e. the lodge house, which 
is to be retained and a partially demolished storage building. The storage 
building has some limited potential for bat roost, a bat emergence survey has 
been undertaken and this identified one bat roost in the storage building. As 
such prior to any development commencing a full method statement indicating 
agreed mitigation will be required as well as the relevant permission from 
Natural England. 
 
The contents and the conclusions of this report are accepted. Whilst there is 
little of existing ecological value within the site, the opportunity to deliver 
biodiversity enhancement exists with the retention of mature trees, a 
landscape scheme and bat/ bird roost opportunities being incorporated within 
any new dwellings. 

Page 91



 
 
 

78

  
Environmental Issues (Contaminated land; Noise; Air Quality): 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
The application site was formerly occupied by a textile factory; it is accepted 
that substantial decontamination, and remediation will be required to make the 
site suitable to receive new development and this will be covered by condition. 
 
Noise 
 
A Noise Report has been submitted with the application; this identifies two 
potential noise sources i.e. traffic along Shop Lane and to a lesser extent the 
business uses along Bankfield Lane. The noise levels would not prevent 
residential development of the site however noise attenuation would be 
beneficial for dwellings that would face onto Shop Lane and to the rear garden 
areas on the northern boundary of the site. As such a condition requiring 
details of noise attenuation measures to future dwellings on those parts of the 
site is recommended.  
 
Air Quality 
 
The site is not within an area which suffers from poor air quality and a 
development of 48 dwellings, replacing a former textile factory will have a 
negligible impact on emissions. However in accordance with guidance 
contained in paragraph 97 of the NPPF a condition is recommended to 
provide charging points for electric and low emission vehicles. 
 
Crime Prevention 
 
The application is in outline with access applied for, as such detailed 
consideration of layout will be undertaken at the Reserved Matters stage. 
However there is an illustrative layout that indicates a small area of open 
space in the NW corner, with a footpath link across it onto Bankfield Lane. 
This area of POS would need to benefit from natural supervision and this 
would need to be incorporated within any future layout through the orientation 
of new dwellings.  
 
Adjacent to the site and on the eastern boundary is an existing public right of 
way which has is in part retained with a retaining wall within the site. The 
boundary walling will need to be repaired and augmented with boundary 
fencing to provide security for the rear gardens of new dwellings in that area 
of the site. 
 
No objections to the principle of residential development on this site from a 
crime prevention perspective. 
 

Page 92



 
 
 

79

Conclusion: 
 
The development proposed will deliver up to 49 new dwellings on a brownfield 
site. The site comprises vacant industrial land that is unlikely to be brought 
back into employment use.  
 
The use of the site for housing is an appropriate alternative use and a 
beneficial one providing much needed housing at a time when the Council is 
unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable housing land. The site is 
deliverable and presents an opportunity for the redevelopment of land in a 
sustainable location.  
 
Whilst the recycling and redevelopment of brownfield land is welcomed, it 
does present challenges. It is acknowledged that the site has been in 
industrial use for a considerable amount of time and that there are difficulties 
associated with remediation and the provision of drainage infrastructure. 
 
Negotiations have taken place with the developer and an improved offer 
towards the provision of affordable housing, POS, Education contribution, 
resident Metro cards and improvements to bus stops has been made which is 
considered to be acceptable and which can be secured through a Section 106 
obligation. 
 
As such the scheme represents the delivery of new housing on a brown field 
site, with full and substantial contributions towards the provision of affordable 
housing, POS, Education, resident Metro cards and improvements to bus 
stops. Approval is recommended. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
Grant conditional outline planning permission subject to delegation of 
authority to Officers to:  
 

i. Referral of the application to the Health and Safety Executive 
under Section 9 of the Planning and Practice Guidance Notes. 
Should the Health and Safety Executive not intervene then; 

 
ii. Secure a S106 obligation to provide: 

• Affordable Housing of 10 starter homes 
• An Education contribution of £113,891 

• POS on site and a financial contribution of £129,950 to 
improve off site POS 

 
iii. Impose appropriate conditions which may include those detailed 

below; and 
 

iv. Subject to there being no material change in circumstances, to 
issue the decision 

 

Page 93



 
 
 

80

Conditions 
 
1. Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance and the 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be 
obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development 
is commenced. 
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the layout, scale, appearance  and the landscaping of the 
site, shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be 
carried out in full accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or, in the 
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved. 
 
5. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing the layout, 
construction and specification of the highway works at the site access junction 
with Shop Lane and with Orchard Road (with reference to drawing no. 
P09:4266.01 Rev A) and all associated highway works, and the appropriate 
Road Safety Audit, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be brought into use until 
all the works under the approved scheme have been carried out and 
completed in accordance with the approved scheme and thereafter retained 
throughout the lifetime of the development.  
  
6. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.4 m 
x 43 m in both directions along Shop Lane at the site access junction in which 
there shall be no obstruction to visibility above the level of the adjacent 
footway as indicated on the approved plan have been completed. Thereafter, 
the visibility splays shall be retained throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 
  
7. Before the development commences a scheme detailing suitable boundary 
treatments to those parts of the development abutting footpath Kirkburton 255 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the commencement of 
the proposed development and thereafter retained during the life of the 
development. 

 
8. Before the development commences a scheme detailing the location and 
cross sectional information together with the proposed design and 
construction for all the retaining walls and building walls adjacent to both the 
existing and new public highway shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Highway Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior 

Page 94



 
 
 

81

to the commencement of the proposed development and thereafter retained 
during the life of the development. 

 
9. Prior to construction commencing, a schedule of the means of access to 
the site for construction traffic shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include the point of access 
for construction traffic, details of the times of use of the access, the routing of 
construction traffic to and from the site, construction workers parking facilities 
and the provision, use and retention of adequate wheel washing facilities 
within the site. Thereafter all construction arrangements shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved schedule throughout the period of construction. 
 
10. Development shall not commence until actual or potential land 
contamination at the site has been investigated and a Preliminary Risk 
Assessment (Phase I Desk Study Report) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
11. Where further intrusive investigation is recommended in the Preliminary 
Risk Assessment approved pursuant to condition 10, development shall not 
commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation Report has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
12. Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 11, development shall not 
commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 
 
13. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 12. In the event 
that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local planning authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 
 
14. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the local planning authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, no part of the site 
shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for the 
whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 

Page 95



 
 
 

82

Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
15. Prior to development commencing a noise attenuation scheme relating to 
dwellings which front onto Shop Lane and also the rear elevations and garden 
areas of dwellings to the NE corner of this site, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the dwellings concerned. 
 
16. The development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects 
of 1 in 100 years storm events, with an additional allowance for climate 
change, upon drainage infrastructure and surface water run off pre and post 
development between the development and the surrounding area in all 
directions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. No part of the development shall be brought into use until the works 
comprising the approved scheme have been completed and the approved 
scheme shall be retained throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
17. Notwithstanding the submitted detail, no development shall commence 
until details of the on-site surface water attenuation have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the 
development shall be brought into use until the works comprising the 
approved scheme have been completed and such approved scheme shall be 
retained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the scheme. 
  
18. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site. 
  
19. No piped discharge of surface water from the application site shall take 
place until works to provide a satisfactory outfall for surface water have been 
completed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority before development commences. 
  
20. No development shall take place until details of the proposed means of 
disposal of foul and surface water drainage, including details of any balancing 
works and off -site works, have been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. Furthermore, no buildings shall be occupied or brought into 
use prior to completion of the approved foul drainage works. 
   
21. Prior to the commencement of development, details of a bio-diversity 
habitat enhancement scheme shall be submitted for the written approval of 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details and potential 
locations for bat / bird roost opportunities within the new development and 
surrounding retained trees. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior 
to the first occupation of any dwellings / plots containing such opportunities.  
 
22. Prior to occupation of any dwellings, electric vehicle recharging points 
shall be installed for each dwelling with a garage and / or 1 point for every 10 
dwellings with communal car parking in accordance with a specification which 

Page 96



 
 
 

83

shall first have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
23. Where European Protected Species(eps) may be affected by a 
development and it can be demonstrated that an Natural England EPS licence 
will not be required, a written method statement(based on the format of 
Natural England’s EPS licence application method statement) detailing how 
the development shall be completed without harm to any EPS and without 
loss or detriment to the wildlife habitat used by the said species, shall be 
submitted  to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the agreed method statement. 
 
This recommendation is based on the following plans and specifications 
schedule:- 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 
Location Plan and Site 
Layout 

P09-42266.01 A July 2015 

Design and Access 
Statement 

  27/8/14 

Transport Statement and 
Supplementary Report 

702B/ Aug 2015  August 2015 

Flood Risk Assessment 
(Updated). 

E1015174/KR01 b April 2015 

Noise Report 10553/01/1v1  27/8/14 
Ecological Report R2314-01.1  April 2015 
Bat Emergence Survey R2314-02  August 2015 
Arboricultural Survey 
(Kirkheaton Mill site) 

  27/8/14 

Arboricultural Survey 
(Garage site) 

  27/8/14 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee Update 1  2016 

  KIRKLEES METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SERVICE 
 

UPDATE OF LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DECIDED BY 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE  
 

14 JULY 2016 
 

 
APPLICATION NO: 2016/90973  PAGE 32 
 
ERECTION OF TWO STOREY SCHOOL AND TWO STOREY MODULAR 
BUILDING AND DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SCHOOL 
 
MOUNT PLEASANT JUNIOR INFANT AND NURSERY SCHOOL, MOUNT 
STREET, LOCKWOOD, HUDDERSFIELD, HD1 3QP 
 
Recommendation: 
 
An additional condition is recommended to require provision of a vehicle 
charging point. 
 
The triggers included within conditions will need to be cross referenced with 
the proposed phasing plan. 
 
It is therefore recommended that authority be delegated to Officers to grant 
conditional full planning permission. 
 

 
APPLICATION 2014/91831                                                            PAGE     47 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF 60 DWELLINGS, 
FORMATION OF ACCESS PUBLIC SPACE AND ASSOCIATED 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
COCKLEY HILL LANE, KIRKHEATON, HUDDERSFIED, HD5 0HH 
 
Viability 
 
A summary of the financial information provided in the viability appraisals has 
been provided to the Committee. This information is for consideration in 
private because it contains commercially sensitive information, including 
information about a third party. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



 

Committee Update 2  2016 

APPLICATION NO: 2014/92535 PAGE 66 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF 48 DWELLINGS, 
FORMATION OF ACCESS AND ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
SHOP LANE, KIRKHEATON, HUDDERSFIELD, HD5 0DB 
 
Assessment: 
 
Representations 
 
One additional letter of representation received that expresses concern that 
building dwellings in this small wooded area will be detrimental to wildlife. The 
area should be properly researched, monitored, and left to blossom on its own 
accord. Small pockets of land such as this should be protected once nature 
has taken over. This area is already over populated with people and cars.  
 
Highway Issues 
 
As a point of clarification, p.75 ‘Traffic Generation’ second paragraph: 
 
The two-way traffic flows along Shop Lane are circa 800 ‘am’ and 1,200 ’pm’. 
 
Viability 
 
A summary of the financial information provided in the viability appraisals has 
been provided to the Committee. This information is for consideration in 
private because it contains commercially sensitive information, including 
information about a third party. 
 
 

Page 100


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meetings
	Minutes - 16.06.2016
	Plans List - 16.06.2016

	3 Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	10 Planning Applications
	Strategic Planning Update


